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Important Notice

We understand that FaHCSIA may wish to share this report with IBA. You may do so provided that
you ensure that IBA, and each of its Representatives who is a recipient of the report, is made aware
that:

*  The report is provided only for FaHCSIA’s benefit, for the purpose for which we prepared it
for you in accordance with our engagement letter dated 20 March 2012, and was not
undertaken on behalf of, or to serve the needs of any other party, including IBA and its
Representatives;

*  Itis provided for their information only in connection with the purpose;
»  They may not use ar rely on our report for any purpose without cur prior consent;

*  Ourreport is confidential and that they must treat it as such, They cannot disclose the report to
anyone else without our consent; and

*  Our responsibility for the Services and any Work is limited to FaHHCSIA and we do not owe or
accept a duty of care to anyone else unless this is expressly specified in writing by us.

“Representative” means only IBA’s employees, officers or directors.
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Executive Summary

Executive summary

1.1 Introduction

On 13 March 2012, the Hon. Jenny Macklin, Minister for FaHCSIA and members of the Board of
IBA received an anonymous letter from a complainant alleging that Mr Chris Fry (Mr Fry) and Dr
Dawn Casey (Dr Casey) had contravened sections of the Commonwealth Authorities and Companies
Act 2007 (CAC Act). The letter contained allegations summarised as follows:

An IBA conference held at the Gold Coast from 31 October 2011 to 3 November 2011was an
inappropriate use of government funding

That IBA’s CEO, Mr Fry knew about the trip and more specifically that he approved the
program and associated expenses of the conference

The Chair of IBA, Dr Casey has never declared a conflict of interest in relation to her alleged
family association with a current employee of Tjapukai Aboriginal Cultural Centre (Tjapukai)
in Cairns and her connections to the general Caimns area

That IBA Board decisions made relating to investments in Tjapukai were not properly
considered and were improperly influenced by Mr Fry and Dr Casey.

More specifically the following allegations were raised against Mr Fry in relation to the 2011 IBA
conference:

Mr Fry contravened the CAC Act, most notably Division 4, Conduct of Officers, Subdivision A:
General Duties

o Section 22 (2d) Care and Diligence — An officer of a Commonwealth authority who makes
a business judgment is taken to meet the requirements of subsection (1), and their
equivalent duties under the general law, in respect of the judgment if he or she rationally
believes that the judgment is in the best interests of the Commonwealth authority

o Section 23 (1a) Good Faith — An officer of a Commonwealth authority must exercise his or
her powers and discharge his or her duties in good faith in the best interests of the
Commonwealth authority

o  Section 24 (1b) Use of Position — An officer or employee of a Commonwealth authority
must not improperly use his or her position to cause detriment to the Commonwealth
authority or to another person

o  Section 26 (1a) (1¢) (1d) (2b} Good Faith - An officer of a Commonwealth authority
commits an offence if he or she is reckless and fails to exercise his or her powers and
discharge his or her duties:

o In good faith in what he or she believes to be in the best interests of the
Commonwealth authority; or

o for a proper purpose

o  Section 26: Use of position — An officer or employee of a Commonwealth authority
commits an offence if he or she uses his or her position dishonestly and recklessly as to
whether the use may result in him or her or someone else directly or indirectly gaining an
advantage, or in cansing detriment to the Commonwealth authority or to another person.
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Allegations made against Dr Casey were that she had failed to declare a conflict of interest and had
interfered in the administration of IBA. More specifically it was alleged that:

¢  Dr Casey did not notify the Board of her material personal interest in Tjapukai and therefore has
contravened Section 27F (1) of the CAC Act:
o A director of a Commonwealth authority who has a material personal interest in a matter
that relates to the affairs of the authority must give the other directors notice of the interest
unless subsection (2) says otherwise.

As a result of the above allegations, it was determined that an independent investigation into the
allegations was required. FaHCSIA engaged Deloitte on 20 March 2012 to conduct the investigation
and report findings.

In addition IBA set up a hotline to the Deloitte investigation team for individuals to volunteer further
information regarding the anonymous allegations that were made in the letter dated 10 March 2012,
As at 11 April 2012 we have not received any additional information through this hotline.

1.2 Summary of key findings
Detailed findings appear in Section 5 of this report. A summary of our key findings are shown below.
1.2.1 Gold Coast conference

Process for arranging the conference

s  Mr Fry delegated overall authority to Mr Smith for the conference. In his position as Assistant
General Manager at the time of organising the conference, Mr Smith had the authority under the
ATSI Act to approve purchase orders or invoices for the provision of supplies and services not in
excess of $100,000

o  On 25 August 2011 Mr Fry asked Mr Smith to be “be mindful of costs since I am going to
benchmark across all programs on an annual basis”

s  Mr Smith consulted with Mr Fry about the proposed conference location and the budgeted costs.
Mr Fry endorsed the funding of the conference on the condition that the costing was justified and
prudent

s  Approximately seven to ten days prior to the Conference Mr Fry compared the cost of the 2011
conference to the cost of other conferences held across IBA to satisfy himself that the overall
expense to be incurred was not excessive

e Whilst Mr Fry was not involved in the authorisation of costs in relation to the Gold Coast
conference there is email evidence that he has displayed an interest in the appropriateness of the
overall cost through his email communications with Mr Smith in August 2011.

Financial Analysis

Deloitte undertook financial analysis comparing budgeted costs to actual figures, prior years and other
conferences held across IBA. The key findings were as follows:

s  Budgeted cost comparisons were prepared by IBA Senior Investment Manager Mr Chris Smith
(Mr Smith) and Ms Effie Poulus (Ms Poulus), Program Coordinator, which showed that the
Gold Coast was the cheapest option

s  The budgeted amount for the Gold Coast ($23,960) was the cheapest option. This amounted to a
budgeted cost of $1,104.75 per person as 21 people were scheduled to attend. Townsville was
the next cheapest with an overall budgeted cost of $24,087.50 amounting to a cost of $1,147.02
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Mr Smith did not include a ‘day rate” amount in the budget for the Gold Coast as he said “they
were preliminary costings”. He added “with hindsight maybe I should have included it”. Ifhe
had, the Gold Coast would not have been the cheapest option as Townsville was only $891.50
more expensive at that time

The budgeted calculations prepared by Mr Smith for the conference to be held in Canberra were
round figure estimates. Mr Smith was not able to provide detailed explanations for the basis of
the calculations relating to Canberra

Actual expenditure of $28,717.62 exceeded budget by 23.8% as 22 people attended the
conference compared to the 21 that were budgeted and the travel allowance was not included in
the budgeted costs. Mr Smith confirmed the travel allowance expense was not included in any of
the budget calculations

The total cost of the Movie World ‘team activity” was $1,199.85 ($79.99 per person) for 15
tickets and all attendees had to purchase their own food and beverages.

Allegations against Mr Fry

It was alleged that Mr Fry had breached Division 4: Conduct of Officers, Subdivision A: General
Duties of the CAC Act, in particular, Sections 22 (2d), 23 (1a), 24 (1b) and 26 (la, l¢, 1d and 2b) of
the act.

Mr Fry does not believe his actions had contravened the CAC Act and we found the following:

Mr Fry delegated overall responsibility for the conference to Mr Smith who had authority under
the ATSI Act to approve purchase orders or invoices for the provision of supplies and services
not in excess of $100,000

Even though Mr Fry had delegated overall responsibility to Mr Smith emails between Mr Fry
and Mr Smith in August 201 lindicate that Mr Fry took an interest in the appropriateness of the
overall cost

We have seen calculations prepared by Mr Fry that he said were prepared at the time that
compares the cost of the 2011 conference to other conferences held across IBA to satisfy himself
that the overall expense to be incurred was not excessive

Mr Fry said he kept this note for future reference for subsequent conference costings, and to
allay any queries from other Heads of program areas that the Gold Coast was a more expensive
option than for their offsite conference locations

In an interview with us on 4 April 2012 Mr Fry said he was not aware of the team activity to
Movie World prior to him being questioned about this at the Senate estimates Committee on 17
February 2012. We have found no evidence to show otherwise

Based on our keyword searches of Mr Fry’s mailbox, we did not identify any explicit emails of
interest that corroborated the allegations made by the complainant in the letter dated 10 March
2012

The first email that we found in Mr Fry’s email account containing the keyword ‘movieworld’
was sent by him on 19 February 20120 at 3:56pm. This email was sent to Mr Smith, Mr Leo
Bator (Mr Bator), Ms Louise Biddle (Ms Biddle) and Ms Kaely Woods (Ms Woods). In this
email he detailed the thoughts of Dr Casey following the Senate Estimates Committee

Mr Fry’s statement to Deloitte that there was a cost comparison prepared by Mr Smith in relation
to the 2011 conference is corroborated by emails indicating that Alice Springs and Cairns were
also considered as possible venues

As a result of the work we have conducted we have not identified any evidence to recommend
consideration of breaches of the CAC Act in relation to Mr Fry.
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1.2.2 Tjapukai

Throughout 2011 a number of discussions were held by the Board of IBA and the Finance and
Investment Committee (F&I Committee) relating to the proposal of investing into the redevelopment
of Tjapukai. From our review of relevant documentation and interviews with several key staff we
found the following;

s On 7 May 2009 Dr Casey completed and signed her Private Interests Declaration stating that she
was not aware of any matiers which would give rise to a conflict of interest

o  The IBA Board Meeting held on 9-10 July 2009 was the first meeting that Dr Casey chaired

e  She was said to be a collaborative chairwoman that liked to hear the views of all Board members
and actively encouraged individuals with contrary views to contribute to discussion

s  On 10 September 2010 Dr Casey signed a Declaration of Interest stating that she has several
superannuation accounts in managed funds and that she is Director of the Museum of
Democracy Board, NAISDA Dance College Board and the Queensland Government Design
Council

s  Inthe Board meeting dated 14 September 2014, brief discussions were held regarding Dr
Casey’s involvement with Tjapukai. The Board agreed that Dr Casey did not have a material
personal interest in Tjapukai stating that any advice that Dr Casey offered to the business was

" done so on a ‘no payment’ basis

o  On 8 July 2011 The Board approved a $12m capital injection to significantly upgrade the
infrastructure and product offering at Tjapukai along with an additional $2m capital injection to
be used for working capital and the recruitment of a new CEO at Tjapukai

s  In the minutes of that Meeting it was noted that Ms Diane Rimington (Ms Rimington), Deputy
CEQ, had a different position on the redevelopment and did not sign off on it. It was noted that
her recommendation would have been the minimum refurbishment option balancing the
opportunity cost of the funds employed

»  In that same meeting Dr Casey expressed her disappointment that management did not have a
consensus view on the redevelopment and she said it needed to be documented that the
Investments team did not support the proposed investment

e  On 1l August 2011 Dr Casey declared in an email to Mr Paul Coker (Mr Coker), Executive
Officer at IBA, that she had no material interest in matters for discussion in relation to the IBA
Board meeting to be convened on 13 September 2011

e  On 18 November 2011 Dr Casey signed a Declaraticn of Interest stating that she had been
appointed as Chair of Indigenous Land Corporation. She outlined details of superannuation
funds and shares that she owns.

1.2.3 Allegations against Dr Casey

[t was alleged in the complainant’s anonymous letter dated 10 March 2012 that the Chair had failed to
declare a conflict of interest and had interfered in administration of IBA. More specifically it was
alleged that Dr Casey had not notified the Board of her material personal interest in Tjapukai and
therefore has contravened Section 27F (1) of the CAC Act:

Dr Casey does not believe she has contravened Section 27 of the CAC Act and we found the
following:

e  The decision to invest in Tjapukai was ongoing and has been the subject of numerous Board
level discussions

¢  Dr Casey declared a potential conflict of interest relating to Tjapukai in the Board Meeting dated
14 September 2010. This did not directly relate to Dr Casey’s actual, perceived or potential
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conflict with Tjapukai employee/s but rather her association with museums and cultural centres
and the work she has previously overseen on these projects

The board discussed Dr Casey’s potential conflict and decided that that she did not have a
material personal interest in Tjapukai and stated that any advice that Dr Casey offered to the
business was done so on a ‘no payment’ basis

Dr Casey completed and signed the conflict declarations each year but believed this declaration
related to ‘financial interests’ only

Dr Casey has told us that, in 2009, she declared to the IBA Board a perceived conflict of interest
due to her distant family connection to a current Tjapukai employee, Mr David Hudson (Mr
Hudson). We have not been able to locate this

Dr Casey confirmed that Mr Hudson works at Tjapukai as the current CEO and is not a close
family member. She said he is not a sibling, dependent, uncle, first cousin or parent

She said that prior to her appointment as the Chair she had not seen or spoken to him since 1992
and she did not believe he has personally benefitted as a result of the redevelopment

Following Board discussion of the need for the CEO to have a particular skillset and other
matters Dr Casey said that she and Mr Fry would meet with Mr Hudson, staff and Indigenous
partner$ as soon as possible

As a result of the work we have conducted we have not identified any evidence to recommend
consideration of breaches of the CAC Act in relation to Dr Casey. In particular we have not
identified evidence of Dr Casey allowing her personal interests, or the interests of any associated
person or organisation, to influence her conduct or duty to act in the best interests of IBA.



Terms of Reference

Terms of Reference
2.1 Objectives

The objective of our work was to investigate the anonymous allegations that were made in the letter
dated 10 March 2012 and to assess if the actions carried out by Mr Fry and Dr Casey have
contravened the CAC Act.

2.2 Scope

Deloitte performed the following work as part of our investigation:
¢  Performed background searches on named individuals and related entities

s Reviewed all relevant documentation regarding the company and the allegations that we were
provided with

s Performed key word search interrogation across the IBA email account of Mr Fry

s Considered responses made to the hotline that was set up in relation to the anonymous allegations
made in the letter dated 10 March 2012

o  Conducted interviews with appropriate staff and directors
¢ Conducted interviews with Mr Fry and Dr Casey

e Reviewed the relevant sections of the CAC Act as detailed in the complainant’s anonymous letter.

10



Limitations

Limitations

This report has been prepared using resources from the Australian Deloitte Forensic practice.

Deloitte has interviewed the persons set out in Appendix C. We have not spoken to the anonymous
complainant nor have we spoken to any person who has indicated support for these allegations. This
may not represent all persons who may be in possession of relevant information. As a result, our
investigative work could be incomplete.

We were informed that Dr Casey did not have an active IBA email account therefore we did not
extract or examine any emails for Dr Casey. Had Deloitte undertaken further investigation work, our
findings may have been different.

Deloitte Forensic staff are not lawyers, and our report should not be relied upon as legal advice.

This report has been prepared based on work completed as at 4 April 2012. Deloitte has not updated
its work since that date. Deloitte assumes no responsibility for updating this report for events and
circumstances occurring after the date of this report.

This report has been prepared exclusively for the purposes of FaHCSIA. The distribution of this report
is limited to authorised recipients of FaHCSIA and will not be otherwise distributed without the
written consent of Deloitte. This report should not be used for any other purpose without our prior
written consent and, if it is used otherwise, neither Deloitte nor its partners or staff accept any liability
or responsibility for loss suffered by any party.

We reserve the right to alter the findings reached in this report should information that is relevant to
our findings subsequently become available after the date of this report.

For the purposes of preparing this report, reliance has been placed upon the material, representations,
information and instructions provided to us. Original documentation has not been seen (unless
otherwise stated) and no audit or examination of the validity of the documentation, representations,
information and instructions provided has been undertaken, except where it is expressly stated to have
been.
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Background

Background

4.1 Indigenous Business Australia

Established in 1990, IBA is an Australian Government organisation based in Canberra that ‘promotes
and encourages self-management, self-sufficiency and economic independence for Aboriginal and
Torres Strait Islander people’. IBA is governed by a Board of Directors and an Executive team lead
by their Chief Executive Officer. The Chair of the Board, Dr Casey was appointed in 2009, who along
with other directors develop policies for the Executive team to administer. In 2011, Mr Fry was
appointed as the Chief Executive Officer. Mr Fry, supported by his executive team, is responsible for
the day to day administration of IBA.

4.2 Governing Laws

As a statutory authority of the Australian Government, IBA is accountable to the Parliament and the
Minister of FaHCSIA. IBA’s principal legislative basis is the Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander
Act 2005 (ATSI Act), which sets out its powers, functions, administrative and operational
arrangements. The Act also provides the constitution and appointment of the Board and covers certain
operations of the meetings of the Board.

IBA is required to fulfil the requirements of the Commonwealth Authorities and Companies Act 1997
{CAC Act), which regulates certain aspects of the financial affairs of commonwealth authorities, their
reporting obligations, accountability, banking and investment obligation and the conduct of IBA
Directors and officers.

The purposes of IBA are set out in Section 146 of the ATSI Act. 1BA is established:

To assist and enhance Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander self-management and economic self-
sufficiency;

To advance the commercial and economic interest of Aboriginal persons and Torres Strait Islanders
by accumulating and using a substantial capital base for the benefit of the Aboriginal and Torres
Strait Islander peoples’

4.3 IBA Code of Conduct

The IBA Code of Conduct states:

‘IBA employees must disclose, and take reasonable steps to avoid, any conflict of interest (real or
apparent) in connection with their employment’. This may include actual, perceived or potential
conflicts of interest and includes, but is not limited to the following circumstances:

e Involvement in an assessment panel or committee (including recruitment and procurement)
o Assessment of a loan or grant application;

e Decision-making by a delegate (see below), or

o Outside employment.

The IBA Executive and other positions identified by the Chief Executive Officer must provide a
standing conflict of interest declaration to the Chief Executive Officer through the General Counsel,
and include those interests that could present an actual, potential or perceived conflict with the
employee’s duties’.

12
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4.4 Anonymous allegations

On 13 March 2012, the Hon. Jenny Macklin, Minister for FaHCSIA, and members of the Board of
IBA received an anonymecus letter from a complainant. The letter contained allegations summarised as
follows:

. An IBA conference held at the Gold Coast from 31 October 2011 to 3 November 2011was an
inappropriate use of government funding

» That IBA’s CEO, Mr Fry knew about the trip and more specifically that he approved the
program and associated expenses of the conference

s  The Chair of IBA, Dr Casey has never declared a conflict of interest in relation to her alleged
family association with a current employee of Tjapukai in Caims and her connections to the
general Cairns area

e  That IBA Board decisions made relating to investments in Tjapukai were not properly
considered and were improperly influenced by Mr Fry and Dr Casey.

13



Detailed Investigations

Detailed Investigations
5.1 Background Research

Deloitte performed business infelligence research on a number of key individuals and entities to
establish their background and commercial relationship/s. The key findings from our research for the
main individuals and entities appear below.

5.1

Jd Mr Fry

The key points of interest are as follows:

.

Mr Fry was appointed CEQ of IBA in Febrnary 2011

Mr Fry was appointed to the ILC Tourism Advisory Committee {TAC) in 2005 along with Ms
Judy Freeman from Tjapukai

Mr Fry was appointed as Chair of the ILC’s Mossman Gorge Development Steering Committee
in 2008.

5.1.2 Dr Casey

The key points of interest are as follows:

LA

Dr Casey is a director of two companies, NAISDA Ltd (appointed on 11 September 2009) and
National Indigenous Pastoral Enterprises Pty Ltd (NIPE) (appointed on 17 February 2012)

NIPE is a wholly owned subsidiary of the Indigenous Land Corporation (ILC)
Dr Casey was appointed onto the board of the ILC as chairperson in October 2011
Dr Casey was appointed Chair of the Board of IBA on 29 June 2009

The IBA website identifies that Dr Casey is a Director of the Museum of Applied Arts and
Sciences.

1.3 IBA Pty Ld

An ASIC historical company extract identified that the sole director of IBA Pty Ltd is Mr Chris
Smith who was appointed on 22 November 2007

Mr Smith is a Director of multiple companies including Cape Don Pty Ltd and Wildman
Wilderness Lodge Pty Ltd of which Mr Stephen Barry (Mr Barry) is a director of both

IBA has a 100% shareholding in IBA Pty Ltd.

1.4 Tjapukai Pty Ltd

An ASIC historical company extract identified that Mr Stephen Barry (Mr Barry) and Mr
Christian Barcza (Mr Barcza) are the Directors of Tjapukai Pty Ltd

IBA has a 100% shareholding in the majority of the company’s share classes.

14
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5.2 Forensic Email Beview
5.2.1 Methodology

On 26 March 2012 Deloitte requested the email account for Mr Fry and Dr Casey. We were informed
by Mr Ronae Camaggi (Mr Camaggi), Acting IT Services Manager that IBA’s external IT provider,
Managed Business [T Solutions (MBITS), would need to be contacted to request the information.

On 28 March 2012 we were advised by Mr Camaggi that Dr Casey did not have an active IBA email
account and that it was his understanding that Dr Casey uses her Powerhouse Museum email account.
We did not therefore extract or examine any emails for Dr Casey.

The emails for Mr Fry were extracted by MBITS for the period 17 October 2010 through to 28 March
2012 and provided to Deloitte on two CD-ROM’s on 29 March 2012. A forensic copy of the email
data was created at the Deloitte forensic laboratory and searches across the data were performed.

5.2.2 Results

Key search terms were created and applied to Mr Fry’s mailbox in order to forensically review the
contents of the emails to assist in identifying any relevant emails and documents. See Appendix B for
a list of search terms applied to Mr Fry’s mailbox.

Based on our keyword searches we identified a number of emails relating to the Gold Coast
conference and Tjapukai both before and after the anonymous letter of 10 March 2012.

Gold Coast conference
The key emails of interest are shown below:

s On 9 August 2011 at 2.06pm, Mr Smith sent an email to the IBA Investments team and stated
“the investments planning and strategy meeting was agreed and will be held at the Alice Springs
resort from Monday 31 October to Thursday 3 November”

s  On 25 August 2011 at 4.28pm, Mr Smith sent an email to the Investments team in which he
wrote “the investmenis planning and strategy is proceeding or 31 October to 3 November in
Cairns. Unfortunately due to excessive flight costs into Alice Springs the location has been
changed to Cairns” (See Appendix D)

s  On 25 August 2011 at 5.03pm, Mr Fry responded to the email that was sent to the investments
team at 4.28pm that day. Mr Fry stated to Mr Smith “be mindful of costs since [ am going to
benchmark across all programs on an annual basis. Thanks for reviewing flights to Uluru™ (See
Appendix E)

s  On 26 August 2011 at 12.52pm, Mr Fry sent an email to Mr Smith relating to the Conference
and wrote “Chris, I will spend a day with the team™

o On 19 February 2012 at 3:56pm Mr Fry sent an email to Mr Smith, Mr Bator, Ms Biddle and Ms
Woods. In this email he detailed the thoughts of Dr Casey following the Senate Estimates
Committee. This was the first email to contain the search term ‘movieworld’. (See Appendix F)

¢  On 21 February 2012 at 4.07pm, Mr Smith sent an email to Mr Fry with a Brief attached relating
to the Senate Estimates question that set out the details of the conference held at the Gold Coast,
The Brief outlined the basis for the conference, external speakers, venue selection, costing
analysis and information on the ‘team activity” at Movie World. The Brief stated that the total
cost of the three days including airfares, transfers, accommodation, conference room costs,

15
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catering and incidentals was $18,735 (ex GST) an average of $936 per person’ (See Appendix
G)

On 14 March 2012 at 6.11pm, Mr Fry emailed Ms Biddle, Executive Officer and wrote “Louise,
can you please find out how much it would cost to take say 16 adults fo movie world”

Tjapukai

On 4 August 2011 at 4:18pm, Mr Coker, Executive Officer at IBA, sent an email to all Directors,
including Dr Casey and wrote “Dear IBA Directors, I have attached the agenda for the 13
September IBA Board meeting. Could you please flag any material personal interests that you
may have by return email”

On 11 August 2011 at 6.27pm, Dr Casey responded to Mr Coker and the other Directors
included on the initial email and wrote “Hi Paul. I have no material interest. Dawn” (See
Appendix H)

On 9 November 2011 at 4.35pm, Mr Fry sent an email to Dr Casey to inform her of his recent
trip to Tjapukai. He wrote “The consistent message was that the product offer has not evolved
and is tired, infrastructure is tired and staff management is poor.” He added “The meetings went
well with both agreeing that they want Tjapukai to remain open. It needs significant upgrade and
they agreed to ceasing cail option”

On 9 November 2011 at 5.27pm, Dr Casey responded to Mr Fry and wrote “The Board knows
the product hasn't evolved and all the other things you state below and we have known for a
couple of years hence the proposal for redevelopment including new organisational and
governance structures which is now long overdue. The Board is going to ask why isn’t this
happening? ”

On 10 November 2011 at 6.27am, Dr Casey sent an email to Mr Fry and wrote I agree your
visit and your meefing with the stakeholders, with the partners has been a great move forward
and [ was not being critical of you yesterday but rather frustrated as will be the other Board
members about the discussion around the product and management not having improved. On
this, action should have been taken over 12 months ago"(See Appendix 1)

On 5 December 2011 at 2.59pm, Mr Hanz Spier (Mr Spier) Manager Djabugay Corporations,
sent an email to Mr Barry and wrote “we are thus not surprised that three years later we find
ourselves meeting IBA again to discuss the sorry state Tjapukai is in. Buda:Dji Directors do not
want to see Tjapukai go down. We fully support David Hudson and his vision for Tjapukai and if
of any assistance we would like to be closely involved in future development of Tjapukai”.

3.2.3 Findings — Forensic email review

On 11 August 2011 Dr Casey declared that she had no material interest in matters for discussion
in relation to the IBA Board meeting to be convened on 13 September 2011

Mr Fry’s statement to Deloitte that there was a cost comparison prepared by Mr Smith in relation
to the 2011 conference is corroborated by emails indicating that Alice Springs and Cairns were
also considered as possible venues

On 25 August 2011 Mr Fry asked Mr Smith to be “be mindfil of costs since I am going to
benchmark across all programs on an annual basis”

Based on our keyword searches of Mr Fry’s mailbox, we did not identify any explicit emails of
interest that corroborated the allegations made by the complainant in the letter dated 10 March
2012

! This did not include the budgeted costs for the ‘team activity’ or the Draculas dinner
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s  Whilst Mr Fry was not involved in the authorisation of costs in relation to the Gold Coast
conference there is evidence that he has displayed interest in the appropriateness of the overall
cost through his email communications with Mr Smith in August 2011.

5.3 Gold Coast Conference

5.3.1 Purpose

Between 31 October 2011 and 3 November 2011 IBA’s Investment Team held their annual
conference at the Gold Coast, Queensland. The event was held over three nights and four days and
involved 18 members of the Investments team, internal counsel and two external speakers from
Mallesons Stephen Jaques Lawyers (Mallesons). In attendance were individuals from Brisbane,
Canberra, Perth and Sydney, as well as CEQ Mr Fry who did not attend for the full duration of the
conference’. See Appendix J for a list of conference attendees.

The purpose of the conference was to bring the team together that operate in different states and
address them on IBA’s strategic direction over the next 12 months and reflect on performance. On the
third day of the conference, 15 of the 22 participants, excluding Mr Fry, visited the Movie World
theme park as the ‘team activity’. See Appendix K for the agenda distributed at the conference,

5.3.2 Process for authorising the conference
As a result of our investigation we have been able to establish the following process was undertaken
in relation to the 2011 annval conference.
s  An informal commiitee was set up comprising of the following senior management personnel;
o Mr Smith, Senior Investment Manager
o Mr Ray McInnes (Mr McInnes), Senior Portfolio Manager
o  Ms Christine Dragisic (Ms Dragisic), Senior Manager Governance & Retail Portfolio
o Mr David Vigar (Mr Vigar), Head of Acquisitions
o  Mr Barry, Senior Manager Tourism and Hospitality

o  The committee was led by Mr Smith who co-ordinated with other committee members to decide
on an appropriate destination and a respective agenda for the conference. In previous years
management has decided to hold the conference in locations where IBA owns an asset, usually a
hotel or nearby tourist attraction

s  Mr Smith engaged with the committee to suggest ideas for the conference destination. Alice
Springs, Cairns, Canberra, Gold Coast and Townsville were locations put forward by the team

e  Budgeted cost comparisons were prepared by Mr Smith and Ms Poulus which showed that the
Gold Coast was the cheapest option

s  With the support of the commiitee, Mr Smith consulted with Mr Fry about the proposed
conference location and the budgeted costs. Mr Fry endorsed the funding of the conference on
the condition that the costing was justified and prudent

s Mr Fry delegated overall authority to Mr Smith for the conference. In his position as Assistant
General Manager at the time of organising the conference, Mr Smith had the authority under the
ATSI Act to approve purchase orders or invoices for the provision of supplies and services not in
excess of $100,000

2 One person attended the conference from both Perth and Sydney and two attended from Brisbane
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s Mr Smith approved funding for the Gold Coast conference, budgeted at $23,196, and Ms Poulos
organised the logistics of the trip.

5.3.3 Financial Analysis
Budgeted Costs for 2011

Deloitte obtained the budget and expenditure statements from IBA to provide an analysis of expenses
relating to the Gold Coast conference. For the detailed breakdown of costs see Appendix L.

The purpose of this financial analysis was to establish how the cost of the Gold Coast compared to
other destinations that IBA were contemplating when selecting a conference destination. The original
cost comparisons had been prepared by Mr Smith and Ms Poulus. See the table below for the budget
comparisons for the suggested locations.

Flights $6,471.00 $13,499.56 $6,297.50 $9,159.00 $2,000.00
Accommodation $7,875.00 $6,864.00 $6,600.00 $6,600.00 $9,000.00
Day Rate $0.00 $3,234.00 $2,970.00 $2,970.00 $3,000.00
Lunch $1,890.00 $1,320.00 $2,940.00 $2,940.00 $2,400.00
Dinner $4,410.00 $5,280.00 $5,280.00 $5,280.00 $6,000.00
Car Hire $1,500.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $1,800.00
Taxi $1,050.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
Total $23,196.00 $30,197.56 $24,087.50 526,949.00  $24,200.00
Variance $7,001.56 $891.50 $3,753.00 $1,004.00
% Variance 30.18% 3.84% 16.18% 4.33%

The key points to note are as follows:

¢ The budgeted amount for the Gold Coast ($23,196) was the cheapest option for 21 people. This
amounts to a cost of $1,104.75 per person

¢  Mr Smith did not include a “‘day rate’ amount in the budget for the Gold Coast as he said “they
were preliminary costings”. He added “with hindsight maybe I should have included it”. If he
had, the Gold Coast would not have been the cheapest option as Townsville was only $891.50
more expensive at that time

¢  Mr Smith said the calculations for hosting the conference in Canberra were an estimate prepared
at the same time as the other locations.

e  Mr Smith was not able to provide detailed explanations for the basis of the calculations relating
to Canberra

e  Mr Smith said that even though the cost to hold the conference in Canberra was likely to be the
cheapest he took the decision to hold the conference on neutral ground

? These are approximate figures that Mr Smith prepared. See Appendix K for calculations
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e  Initially Alice Springs and Cairns were suggested as locations for the 2011 conference but the
excessive cost of flights meant that these options were not financially viable

¢  Taxi costs were included in the Gold Coast budget to cover the cost of employees travelling from
their homes to the respective airports

e  Car hire costs were included in the Gold Ceast budget to provide ease of access to transport if
required. These three hire cars were used to transport employees to the team activity at Movie
World

e The budgeted costs for the Gold Coast do not include the cost of tickets to Movie World or
dinner at Draculas restaurant on the first evening or the day delegate package’.

Budget vs. actual costs for 2011
The actual cost of the Gold Coast conference was $5,521.62 greater than the original budget.

See the table below for a summary of comparison costs.

Flights $6,471.00 $7,920.00 $1,449.00 22.39%
Accommodation $7,875.00 $7,824.85 ($50.15) {0.64%)
Travel Allowance $0.00 $3,003.50 $3,003.50 Undefined
Hire Car $1,500.00 $931.17 ($568.83) (37.92%)
Taxis $1,050.00 $800.00 ($250.00) (23.81%)
Lunch $1,890.00 $2,804.00 $914.00 48.36%
Dinner $4,410.00 $5,434.10 $1,024.10 23.22%
Total $23,196.00 $28,717.62 $5,521.62 23.80%

The key points to note are as follows:

s 22 people attended the conference held at the Gold Coast and the budgeted figures were prepared
on the basis that 21 people would be attending

s Actual expenditure of $28,717.62 exceeded budget by 23.8%

o $3,003.50 of the increase related to the travel allowance. Mr Smith confirmed this expense was
not included in any of the budget calculations

»  There was an increase in the actual lunch costs as the final costs included the day delegate
package and the audio visual hire cost

e Accommedation costs were lower than budgeted costs as Mr Smith was able to negotiate a
favourable rate with Crowne Plaza of $125 per person/per night. See Appendix M for a copy of
the Crowne Plaza and Dracula dinner invoices

e  Flight costs were 22.4% higher than expected as flight prices had increased by the time they
were bocked and Mr Fry’s business class flight was not included in the budget.

* The day delegate rate includes the cost of coffee, moming and afternoon tea, lunch, room hire
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Comparison to prior years

1n both 2009 and 2010 the annual conference was held in Townsville at the Holiday Inn owned by
IBA. See the table below for a comparison of actual costs incurred for the three conferences.

2009

Townsville 4 18 $9,498.09  $15,071.40 $1,749.15  §26,318.64  $365.54
2010

Townsville 3 21 $15,154.89  $10,060.22 $2,837.75  $28,052.86 $445.28
2011 Gold

Coast 3 22 $7,920.00  $16,077.35 $3,003.50  $27,000.85  $409.10

The key points io note are as follows:

e  The above costs for the 2011 Conference at the Gold Coast do not include the cost of taxis and
car hire. If these costs had been included this would bring the total to $28,732.02 resulting in a
cost per person per night of $435.33. Mr Smith said that he did not include the relative taxi and
car hire costs in the 2009 and 2010 comparatives either

s  The cost per person of the Gold Coast conference cost less than the 2010 conference even
though the ‘team activity’ in 2010 was provided free of charge

e  Whilst the duration of the Gold Coast conference was only three nights in 2011 compared to four
nights in 2009, four extra people attended the 2011 conference

s  Accommodation was more expensive in 2011 than in previous years as the previous two
conferences were held at the Holiday Inn in Townsville, an investment owned by IBA

e  The Movie World ‘team activity” cost $1,199.85 ($79.99 per person) for 15 tickets and the cost
of this is included within accommodation costs’. This cost did not include individual expenses
one inside the theme park

s The 2010 ‘team activity” was a Masterchef style cooking class that was provided free of charge
by the hotel.

Comparison to other conferences

When we interviewed Mr Fry he told us that he wanted to be personally satisfied that the estimates
prepared by Mr Smith were cost effective relative to other IBA conferences held offsite. He told us
that approximately seven to ten days prior to the conference he made inquiries and determined for
himself the cost of four other IBA conferences as a comparison before being satisfied of the decision
made by Mr Smith. Mr Fry told us that he made handwritten notes to reflect the results of his
inguiries. A copy of Mr Fry’s handwritten note showing his calculation can be seen at Appendix N,

See the table below for the cost comparisons that Mr Fry told us he calculated.

Corporate Branch 2 32 $6,000 $187.50

Enterprise Branch 3 68 $75,000 $1,102.94

% Only 15 of the 22 attendees went to Movie World. Mr Fry, Ms Gowans and the individuals from
Mallesons are amongst those that did not attend
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Homes Branch 4 20 $27,000 $1,350.00
Policy Branch 1 10 $4,000 $400.00
Investments Branch $1,020.00

5.3.4 Findings — Gold Coast conference

*  An informal committee was established to determine the venue for the 2011 IBA Investment
team conference. This committee was led by Mr Smith and did not involve Mr Fry

¢  Budgeted cost comparisons were prepared by Mr Smith and Ms Poulus which showed that the
Gold Coast was the cheapest option

e  With the support of the committee, Mr Smith consulted with Mr Fry about the proposed
conference location and the budgeted costs. Mr Fry endorsed the funding of the conference on
the condition that the costing was justified and prudent

e Mr Fry delegated gverall anthority to Mr Smith for the conference. In his position as Assistant
General Manager at the time of organising the conference, Mr Smith had the authority under the
ATSI Act to approve purchase orders or invoices for the provision of supplies and services not in
excess of $100,000

¢  The budgeted amount for the Gold Coast ($23,960) was the cheapest option. This amounted to a
budgeted cost of $1,104.75 per person as 21 people were scheduled to attend. Townsville was
the next cheapest with an overall budgeted cost of $24,087.50 amounting to a cost of $1,147.02

s Mr Smith did not include a ‘day rate’ amount in the budget for the Gold Coast as he said “they
were preliminary costings”. He added “with hindsight maybe I should have included it”. If he
had, the Gold Coast would not have been the cheapest option as Townsville was only $891.50
more expensive at that time

»  Actual expenditure of $28,717.62 exceeded budget by 23.8% as 22 people attended the
conference compared to the 21 that were budgeted and the travel allowance was not included in
the budgeted costs. Mr Smith confirmed the travel allowance expense was not included in any of
the budget calculations

e The cost per person, per night at the Gold Coast conference in 2011, if all costs are included, was
$435.33 compared to $445.28 in the previous year

e« Approximately seven fo ten days prior to the conference Mr Fry compared the cost of the 2011
conference to the cost of other conferences held across IBA to satisfy himself that the overall
expense to be incurred was not excessive

e  Thereis no evidence that Mr Fry was aware of the Movie World team activity that conference
participants attended prior to him being questioned in relation to this at the Senate Estimates
Committee on 17 February 2012.

5.4 Tiapukai
5.4.1 Overview

Tjapukai was founded more than 20 years ago and is Australia’s largest Indigenous cultural park. The
centre is located just north of Caims, Queensland. Tjapukai was developed on the traditional land of
the Tjapukai people to allow visitors to experience the traditional culture of the landowners. IBA
acquired its initial interest in Tjapukai in 1996,
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Over the period of many months in 2011 discussions were held by the Board of IBA and the IBA
Finance and Investment (F&I) Committee relating to the proposal of investing into the redevelopment
of Tjapukai, The purpose of the F & I Commiftee is to determine endorsement, ahead of Board
consideration, of the Investment Strategy Synopsis for each investment and issues flowing from a
review of each investment strategy and performance.

5.4.2 Review of key documents

We established a chronology of events relevant to the allegations and also the consideration of
investments in Tjapukai based on a review of documentation provided by IBA and interviews with
key persons of interest. See Appendix O for a timeline of events,

The key dates and events to note are as follows:

17 September 2008

The Board makes the decision to buy out IBA’s partner in Tjapukai (prior to Dr
Casey’s appointment)

7 May 2009 Dr Casey completes and signs her Private Interests Declaration. See Appendix P
for a copy of this
14 May 2009 Dr Casey attends Board Meeting 58 as an observer

9-10 July 2009

Dr Casey’s first attendance at Board meeting 59 as the Chair

8 December 2009

Board meeting 61 — agenda no. 5

Mr Barcza advised the Board on the current state of Tjapukai and recommended a
development plan be submitted for $3,740,000

The recommendation was authorised by Mr Morony

20 April 2010 Board meeting 63 - agenda no.6
Board directors briefed on the recent site visit of Tjapukai by Mr Blair and Mr
Smith

6 June 2010 Dr Casey emails Mr Gemmell (IBA CEO as at June 2010) regarding IBA’s recent

investments into Tjapukai and recommends the appointment of an experienced
project management company for Tjapukai

Dr Casey states ‘my comments on the redevelopment proposal and suggested
strategies for moving forward come from a position of being an expert in the field”

18 August 2010

F&I Committee 5 — agenda no.7c
Dr Casey resigns from the F&I Committee

Mr Thomas recommends that Tjapukai requires additional funding for the next six
months ($500,000) to continue operations

10 September 2010

Dr Casey signs a Declaration of Interest stating that she has several superannuation
accounts in managed funds and that she is Director of the Museum of Democracy
Board, NAISDA Board and the Old Govt. Design Council. See Appendix Q for a
copy of this

14 September 2010

Board meeting 66 — agenda no. 1 (See Appendix R)

The minutes show that brief discussions were held regarding Dr Casey’s
involvement with Tjapukai. The Board agreed that Dr Casey did not have a
material personal interest in Tjapukai stating that any advice that Dr Casey offered
to the business was done so on a ‘no payment’ basis

19 January 2011

Board meeting 67A — agenda no.l

The then CEQ and Deputy CEOQ Commercial recommends to the Board the need
for additional funding of $50,000 for the redevelopment which is approved by the
Board
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5 Fbru 21 or eeting — agenda no.
The Board expresses its support for the vision and direction of the redevelopment
after consultants conducted a presentation on the product and the need for a depth
of experience at Tjapukai
29 March 2011 Board meeting 69 — agenda no. 5a and 5b
The Board requested the administration approach a proponent to identify what
could be achieved for $7-12 million spent on capital works at Tjapukai and
requested more detail on the business plan
16 May 2011 Board meeting 70 — agenda no. 11
Dr Casey informed the Board that development talks were continuing in regard to
cost reductions
Dr Casey stated that the development must result in positive cash flow and an
improved cultural outcome
The Board asked for a paper to be presented at the 7/8 July Board Meeting. This
was to include a complete business plan and all capital requirements for Tjapukai
1 July 2011 F&I Committee 9 — agenda no. 4
Mr Fry presents details to the F&I Committee about the redevelopment and stated
that all financial and non-financial cutcomes were considered
A capital injection of $14 million was proposed
The F&I Committee endorsed the recommendation for the redevelopment
8 July 2011 Board meeting 71 — agenda no. 6¢c

The Board approved a $12m capital injection to significantly upgrade the
infrastructure and product offering at Tjapukai

The Board approved an additional $2m capital injection to be used for working
capital and the recruitment of a new CEQ at Tjapukai

Ms Rimingten said she had a different position on the redevelopment and did not
sign off on it. Her recommendation would have been the minimum refurbishment
option balancing the opportunity cost of the funds employed

Dr Casey expressed her disappointment that management did not have a consensus
view on the redevelopment

Dr Casey said it needed to be documented that the Investments team did not
support the proposed investment

11 August 2011

Mr Coker emails Dr Casey the agenda for the next Board meeting and informs her
to flag any potential material interests. Dr Casey responds that she does not have
any material interests

13 September 2011

Board meeting 72 — agenda no. 7

The Board are informed that their out of session meetings are not fulfilling IBA
compliance requirements

10 November 2011 Dr Casey emails Mr Fry and informs him that she is frustrated that redevelopment
plans have taken so long. This was in response to an email that Mr Fry had sent Dr
Casey after he visited Tjapukai and stated that it was in desperate need of a
redevelopment

18 November 2011  Dr Casey signs a Declaration of Interest stating that she has been appointed as

Chair of ILC and lists superannuation funds and shares that she owns. See
Appendix S for a copy of this

7 December 2011

Board meeting 73 — agenda no. 8b
Dr Casey declares her role as ILC Chair

She informs the Board that they need to take more control of Tjapukai and become
more involved to ensure the success of the cultural centre

25 January 2012

Dr Casey informs the Minister about the recent approval for $14m funding for the
redevelopment of Tjapukai
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23 February 2012 Board meeting 74 — agenda no. 7

The Board considers a further working capital injection of $4,000,000 required to
2014/15

The Board recommends the potential forecasted working capital requirement of
$12,000,000 to maintain operation requirements post development up until 2023

The Board’s final recommendation was the need for a forecasted provision of
$7.000,000 over the next 10 years for capital expenditure to refresh the product in
2023

5.4.3 Findings — Tjapukai

5.5 Allegations made against

The decision to invest in Tjapukai was ongoing and has been the subject of numerous IBA Board
level discussions. The decision to approve the redevelopment was made in the Board Meeting
dated 8 July 2011

Dr Casey made known her potential conflict to the Board in relation to Tjapukai and they decided
that she did not have a material personal interest in it

Detailed business plans, financial forecasts and redevelopment plans were prepared throughout
the process and finally the Board approved the $14,000,000 redevelopment funding which was to
include $12,000,000 for capital works and $2,000,000 to maintain the business on a going
concern basis

An additional $4,000,000 for further working capital injection was tabled in December 2011

The budgeted implications for Tjapukai were discussed in the Board Meeting dated 23 February
2012 at which $18,000,000 was put forward as the capital required plus a potential for a further
$19,000,000 over a 15 year term.

Vir Fry

It was alleged that Mr Fry, in his position as CEO of IBA had authorised the misuse of finds enabling
a meeting to be held at the Gold Coast at which the participants spent the day at Movie World. It was
also alleged that the cost of this conference was approximately $30,000 and that Mr Fry had failed in
his duty as a Director of IBA to investigate the Movie World misuse of IBA’s/taxpayers’ funds. More
specifically the following allegations were raised against Mr Fry:

Mr Fry contravened the CAC Act, most notably Division 4, Conduct of officers, Subdivision A:
General Duties

o Section 22 (2d) Care and Diligence — An officer of a Commonwealth authority who makes
a business judgment is taken to meet the requirements of subsection (1), and their
equivalent duties under the general law, in respect of the judgment if he or she rationally
believes that the judgment is in the best interests of the Commonwealth authority

¢ Section 23 (1a) Good Faith — An officer of a Commonwealth authority must exercise his or
her powers and discharge his or her duties in good faith in the best interests of the
Commonwealth authority

o Section 24 (1b) Use of Position -- An officer or employee of a Commonwealth authority
must not improperly use his or her position to cause detriment to the Commonwealth
authority or to another person

¢ Section 26 (1a) (1c) (1d) (2b) Good Faith - An officer of a Commonwealth authority
commits an offence if he or she is reckless and fails to exercise his or her powers and
discharge his or her duties:
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© In good faith in what he or she believes to be in the best interests of the
Commonwealth authority; or

o for a proper purpose

o Section 26: Use of position — An officer or employee of a Commonwealth authority
commits an offence if he or she uses his or her position dishonestly and recklessly as to
whether the use may result in him or her or someone else directly or indirectly gaining an
advantage, or in causing detriment to the Commonwealth authority or to another person.

5.5.1 Interviews of witnesses

We interviewed a number of people in relation to the allegations raised against Mr Fry and the key
points are as follows:

Mr Smith, as Assistant General Manager, said he had overall responsibility for and authority for
organising the past three investment team conferences. This had been delegated to him by Mr
Fry

Ms Poulos booked, attended and co-ordinated the Gold Coast conference. She booked 18 flights
in total but this did not include flights for Mr Fry, Ms Kirsty Gowans (Ms Gowans) or the
external speakers from Mallesons

The previous two conferences were held in Townsville at the IBA owned Holiday Inn and the
teamn activities had been a ‘Masterchef style’ cooking competition and lawn bowls. The
Masterchef activity was held at the hotel and had been provided free of charge

Mr McInnes, Senior Portfolio Manager, said ‘the team is based in different locations and the
conference is the one opportunity to get everyone together to refocus on the next year’. Mr
Tynan, Acquisitions Associate, said ‘this conference wasn't any different, it wasn’t excessive or
over the top’

To organise the conference Mr Smith co-ordinated with the Conference Committee who looked
at various locations at which to hold the conference in 2011

Mr Barry, Senior Manager Tourism and Hospitality, suggested that the conference be held in
either Alice Springs or Caimns due to the tourism/Indigenous aspect. His suggestions were later
dismissed due to cost issues

After performing some cost comparisons with other locations Mr Smith decided to hold the
conference at the Gold Coast

Prior to the conference Mr Smith spoke to Mr Fry about the final decision to hold the conference
at the Gold Coast. He said Mr Fry’s main concern was that the costing was justified and prudent

The agenda was given to the attendees on arrival. This outlined the session times for the
conference. The Movie World trip was not specifically identified, being described only as a
‘team activity’. We were told it was described this way on the agenda in order to try to keep it as
a surprise for the attendees

At Draculas restaurant on the first evening it was noted that each individual had to purchase their
own drinks above the meal package

At Movie World it was only the admission ticket that was provided by IBA. Any food and
beverages that the attendees required was paid for individually. These were not recharged to IBA

The hotel suggested a “learn to surf” day trip or a fishing expedition as the “team activity’ but Mr
Smith said that he did not want the attendees to participate in any physical activity dueto a
recent workplace safety incident. Mr Smith selected Movie World as it catered for all attendees
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Mr Smith said of the trip to Movie World, “it was good to get together with the guys for some
time away from the intense agenda”. He said that for a lot of attendees at Movie World “i was a
great opportunity to assess how others in the industry are doing things”

Mr Barry said “for those involved in the tourism industry the trip to Movie World was good as it
was a team activity but it also gave them the opportunity to see how other tourism attractions
operate”

The two external parties invited to the conference attended on a pro-bono basis and [BA only
covered the cost of accommodation

Mr Barry said he could understand how the Gold Coast conference may be perceived by some
people to be inappropriate to host a government conference despite the value for money that was
achieved in this instance

5.5.2 Interview with Mr Fry

Mr Fry was interviewed on 4 April 2012. The key points from that interview are as follows:

MTr Fry said that annual conferences are held across IBA. He said it was an important event for
the investments team as they work in different states and it is their one opportunity to get
together and review their performance and agree strategy

He had no input into the planning or organisation of the conference and added that Mr Smith has
the authority to arrange and authorise the conference to his delegation limit

When he was approached by Mr Smith and told that the conference was to be held at the Gold
Coast he said he questioned him about it as he wanted to make sure that the costs were
reasonable

He said he calculated the cost per head for some other IBA conferences to use as a benchmark.
He provided us with some handwritten notes that he said were made at the time, seven to ten
days prior to the conference. See Appendix N for a copy of Mr Fry’s handwritten note

Mr Fry said “I kept this note for future reference for subsequent conference costings, and to allay
any queries from other Heads of program areas that the Gold Coast was a more expensive
option than for their offsite conference locations™

Mr Fry said that he did not know about the Movie World trip until he was questioned about it at
the Senate Estimates hearing on 17 February 2012. He said that he was’ very shocked’ to hear
this and questioned Mr Smith about this immediately afterwards. See Appendix T for a copy of
the diary entry Ms Tracie Brauer (Ms Brauer) entered into Mr Fry’s outlook calendar when he
was invited to the conference. This shows the Movie World trip detailed as ‘team activity’.
Appendix U includes a copy of the travel pack that Ms Brauer put together for Mr Fry prior to
the conference

He said that he would have preferred it if the ‘team activity’ had involved an exercise that gave
back to the community as they had planned to do the previous year at Palm Island. This trip was
cancelled at the last minute due to bad weather

Mr Fry said that he arrived in Brisbane on the Monday afternoon and took the train to the Gold
Coast. On arrival he checked into the hotel then sat through the afternoon’s agenda items. He
attended the dinner at Draculas that evening.

Mr Fry said that he presented to the group first thing on the Tuesday morning and then flew back
to Canberra from the Gold Coast later that day. He said that he did not recall the Movie World
trip being mentioned whilst he was there

He added that Movie World might have been mentioned in the introduction at the start of the
conference but he had not arrived at that point

26



Detailed Investigations

Mr Fry said that he disagreed with the complainants allegations that he sought to evade
answering the committee regarding Movie World as he was not aware of it at that time

Mr Fry said the agenda he received in his travel pack that was prepared by his EA, Ms Brauer
did not show the trip to Movie World. Instead it was shown as ‘team activity’. See Appendix U
for a copy of this

Mr Fry said he stood by the comments he made that “the Gold Coast proved to be the most
economical solution, both by cost of transport and accommodation” and “if was significantly
cheaper than a lof of the other options we looked at” He said that he still understood that to be
the case '

Mr Fry said he was very comfortable with the purpose of the conference and the agenda set for it

‘When asked what involvement Dr Casey had with the annual conference he said “none and she
shouldn’t be expected to either”.

5.5.3 Findings — Allegations made against Mr Fry

Mr Fry delegated overall responsibility for the conference to Mr Smith who had authority under
the ATSI Act to approve purchase orders or invoices for the provision of supplies and services
not in excess of $100,000

Even though Mr Fry had delegated overall responsibility to Mr Smith we can see in emails
between Mr Fry and Mr Smith in Avgust 2011 that Mr Fry took an interest in the appropriateness
of the overall cost

We have seen calculations prepared by Mr Fry that compares the cost of the 2011 conference to
other conferences held across IBA to satisfy himself that the overall expense to be incurred was
not excessive

In an interview with us on 4 April 2012 Mr Fry said he was not aware of the team activity to
Movie World prior to him being questioned about this at the Senate estimates Committee on 17
February 2012, We have found no evidence to show otherwise

As a result of the work we have conducted we have not identified any evidence to recommend
consideration of breaches of the CAC Act in relation to Mr Fry.

5.6 Allegations made against Dr Casey

It was alleged in the complainant’s anonymous letter dated 10 March 2012 that the Chair had failed to
declare a conflict of interest and had interfered in administration of IBA. More specifically the
following allegation was raised.

Dr Casey did not notify the Board of her material personal interest in Tjapukai and therefore has
contravened Section 27F (1) of the CAC Act:

o A director of a Commonwealth authority who has a material personal interest in a matter
that relates to the affairs of the authority must give the other directors notice of the interest
unless subsection (2) says otherwise,

The following is an extract from the Chief Executive’s Instruction — CE118 relating to the
Management of Conflicts of Interest:

The IBA Code of Conduct states:
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IBA employees must disclose, and take reasonable steps to avoid, any conflict of interest (veal or
apparent) in connection with their employment’. This may include actual, perceived or potential
conflicts of interest and includes, but is not limited to the following circumsiances:

e Involvement in an assessment panel or committee (including recruitment and procurement)
e  Assessment of a loan or grant application

¢  Decision-making by a delegate (see below); or

¢  OQOutside employment.

The IBA Executive and other positions identified by the Chief Executive Officer must provide a
standing conflict of interest declaration to the Chief Executive Officer through the General Counsel,
and include those interests that could present an actual, potential or perceived conflict with the
emplovee’s duties’.

Appendix 6 of CE118: Guidelines for managing Directors’ conflicts of interest including material
personal interests [extracted from Board Governance Charter} provides the following:

In accordance with the Directors’ Code of conduct Number 7 ‘4 Director must not allow personal
interests, or the interests of any associated person or organisation, to influence the Dirvector's conduct
and in particular the Director’s duty to act in the best interests of IBA.

There are a number of different forms of conflicts of interests. These include potential, perceived and
actual”.

5.6.1 Interviews of witnesses

We interviewed a number of people in relation to the allegations raised against Dr Casey and the key
points are as follows:

e We were informed by Mr Thomas, Chair of the F&I Committee that Dr Casey established the
F&I Committee as she was concerned that investment proposals were going straight to the board
as she felt they needed a further level of governance

s  Mr Thomas said that the role of the F&I Committee was to consider proposals and to seek
further information if required prior to it being sent to the board for consideration

s  Mr Fry said that the F&I Committee played a vital role in the investment process

s  Mr Fry said that it was noted that Dr Casey was a collaborative Chair that likes to hear the views
of all Board members. He also said “she goes out of her way to hear contrary views”

o [t was understood by many that Dr Casey grew up in North Queensland but she had advised that
she was not a Tjapukai person. We were told that Dr Casey has no direct involvement in the day
to day operation of Tjapukai but has a very strong positive view and is passionate about the
centre

e  Mr Thomas told us that Dr Casey was very involved in the discussions but did not force a
decision

s  Mr Mclnnes, Senior Portfolio Manager, although not directly involved with Tjapukai, said he
knew generally that it was a ‘poor performer” and had heard that the Chair of the Board, Dr
Casey, along with other senior individuals were heavily pushing to get the project to work

s  Many people said that the decision to develop Tjapukai was not a decision that had been taken
lightly and a robust discussion was had at most Board Meetings as it was known that Tjapukai
was financially tenuous as an investment. It was noted that it was not only a financial investment
and that broader issues had to be considered including social and cultural matters
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Mr Thomas said that every Director had shown a far greater interest in Tjapukai than any other
investment and believed they were right to do so

Mr Barry said that from a purely financial perspective, Tjapukai was not a viable investment, but
added “this is more than just a financial outcome. Tjapukai is about the jobs, social issues,
education and training it provides’

Mr Thomas said that he knew Dr Casey had a distant relative, Mr David Hudson, that was
employed at Tjapukai but said that he commenced work at Tjapukai before Dr Casey was
appointed to the Board

At times it had been the responsibility of Dr Casey to deliver bad news to Tjapukai regarding
roles that were changed and roles that were lost

Mr Thomas said “the Board are ‘at one’ with the decision that they should go ahead with the
redevelopment’ and added “they will really work hard to make this a success”.

3.6.2 Interview with Dr Casey

Dr Casey was interviewed on 4 April 2012. The key points to note from that interview are as follows:

Dr Casey said she was from Cairns but said her people are from the Guif region, mainly around
Croydon and Normanton

Dr Casey said “T have not lived in Cairns since 1984 and the only people I keep in touch with on
a regular basis are my brothers and a sister and their children, none of whom have anything to
do with Tijapukai”

Prior to working at IBA she had never visited Tjapukai

Dr Casey was appointed as the Chair of IBA in June 2009 and explained that together with the
Board she develops policies in relation to housing, economic development in line with IBA
legislation

When she commenced as Chair she said “there was an Audit and Risk Committee already in
place which was outstanding, with an independent audit chair. There was no Finance and
Investment Committee at the time , which seemed to me unusual really, in terms of vetiing first,
and analysing proposals that came through by an experienced group, before it come to the
board. So the Board agreed that we set up a Finance and Investment Committee”

At the time of joining the board Dr Casey said that the investment decisions were purely
commercial, She said “we 've had two occasions where it hasn’t been that easy, we've said as a
board that we need to start looking at what are the areas of social return that we need to
consider”. These two investments are Tjapukai and Tiwi Forestry Project

Dr Casey explained that ahead of each board meeting the attendees are sent a copy of the agenda
and they are asked to respond flagging any material personal interests that they may have. She
said “I'm certain I introduced it because people were geiting board papers, even though they
had a conflict of interest and they'd come in on the day. It wasn’t deliberate”

Dr Casey said that at the meeting, if an individual does have a conflict of interest, in addition to
them not receiving a set of the relevant papers they are also excluded from any discussion and
decision making. She went on to say that the individual would leave the room

Dr Casey said that on joining the Board she had declared her potential conflict of interest in
Tjapukai but said "7 think I move of a conflict of interest was my background in the Aris and
Museums, that was at front of my mind , now that I think about it”

She said the board had agreed that a conflict of interest did not exist
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Dr Casey confirmed that her relative, Mr Hudson does work at Tjapukai as the current CEQ but
stated that he is moving into a more artistic and creative role due to Tjapukai needing a stronger
person in this role

Dr Casey said that he is not a sibling, dependent, uncle or first cousin or parent or in other words
a close relative

She said that prior to her appointment as the Chair she had not seen him or spoken to him since
1992 and she did not believe he has personally benefitted as a result of the redevelopment

Following a Board discussion of the need for the CEQ to have a particular skillset and other
matters Dr Casey said that she and Mr Fry would meet with David Hudson, staff and Indigenous
partners as soon as possible. Dr Casey told the board “I'm happy to go up there and I'll tell him,
Just very quietly and carefully”

She said that she did not declare her potential conflict on the annual IBA Conflict declaration as
she believed this document was for “financial’ interests enly

Dr Casey said that the board spent a considerable amount of time deliberating and discussing the
Tjapukai redevelopment. She confirmed that the social and cultural issues were discussed at
length and it was not a decision that could be made based on the financials alone adding “if it
had been done on financials the decision would have been easy as it was not viable on those
alone, but this went deeper than that”

Dr Casey explained that external consultants provided quotes and drawings at relevant stages of
the process and various proposals for the redevelopment were put forward. She said “we knew
that to make this work we needed more than a coat of paint, we needed to give them something
that was new”

She said that the new design was the only stage of the process at which she had put her view
forward as she knew from her previous experience what would work and what would not. She
added that she normally facilitated the discussions that were had and encouraged everyone to
contribute to the debate. She said “from my perspective , I think everybody should be part of the
decision making, so I give them the opportunity”

She said that the decision to invest in the redevelopment was not made by her alone as the Chair.
She said that at no time did she want to put it to a vote instead she encouraged a healthy debate
and was disappointed when the Deputy CEQ Commercial, Ms Rimington, refused to sign the
board papers as she did not agree with the decision. Dr Casey said she was disappointed as she
wanted it noted that not everyone had agreed

In relation to the allegations that had been made in the letter Dr Casey said “it’s not true that in
June 2011a recommendation was made recommending that no more money be wasted on
Tjapukai and that it be wound down. I can’t ever recall that it was written in a paper to wind it
down. We did have discussions that touched on that point but that was it”

Dr Casey said “I have never given Chris Fry or any other CEO a direction on what to wrile in a
paper”
Dr Casey confirmed there was a board paper that was written that had included the financial

details of the redevelopment ($14m) and the additional funding required ($4m). She said that she
thought these figures were very close to what was documented in the paper

Dr Casey confirmed there had never been an independent investigation that according to the
letter dated 10 March 2012 was allegedly commissioned following the June 2011 Board meeting

Dr Casey said that it was untrue that Mr Fry’s recommendation for the redevelopment had no
support from IBA Executive or staff and said that it was also untrue that they were sidelined and
excluded from participation

Dr Casey also said Tjapukai has not become a personal project of hers, as alleged, for any other
reason than she is passionate about it
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When asked about Mr Fry’s actions in relation to the Gold Coast conference and more
specifically the trip to Movie World she said that she had spoken to him when he had finished at
the Senate Estimates Committee and she said he sounded shocked and that he told her he did not
previously know about that trip

‘When asked if she would be advised as a matter of course about the conference and the agenda
she said “no”.

5.6.3 Findings — Allegations against Dr Casey

Dr Casey declared a potential conflict of interest relating to Tjapukai in the Board Meeting dated
14 September 2010

This conflict declaration did not directly relate to Dr Casey’s actual, perceived or potential
conflict with Tjapukai employee/s but rather her association with museums and cultural centres
and the work she has previously overseen in these projects

The board discussed Dr Casey’s potential conflict and decided that that she did not have a
material personal interest in Tjapukai and stated that any advice that Dr Casey offered to the
business was done so on a “no payment’ basis

Dr Casey completed and signed the conflict declarations each year but believed this declaration
related to ‘financial interests’ only

Dr Casey has told us that, in 2009, she declared to the IBA Board a perceived conflict of interest
due to her distant family connection to a current Tjapukai employee, Mr Hudson, We have not
been able to locate the minutes of this Board meeting

Dr Casey confirmed that Mr Hudson does work at Tjapukai as the current CEO but stated that he
is moving into a more artistic and creative role due to Tjapukai needing a stronger person in the
CEOQO role

She said that prior to her appointment as the Chair she had not seen him or spoken to him since
1992 and she did not believe he has personally benefitted as a result of the redevelopment

Following Board discussion of the need for the CEO to have a particular skillset and other
matters Dr Casey said that she and Mr Fry would meet with Mr Hudson, staff and Indigenous
pariners as soon as possible

As a result of the work we have conducted we have not identified any evidence to recommend
consideration of breaches of the CAC Act in relation to Dr Casey. In particular we have not
identified evidence of Dr Casey allowing her personal interests, or the interests of any associated
person or organisation, to influence her conduct or duty to act in the best interests of IBA.
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Glossary of individuals and entities we have
referred to in this report

The individuals and entities referred to in the report are summarised in the table below.

Mr Chris Fry Chief Executive Officer, IBA

Dr Dawn Casey Chair of the Board, IBA

Mr Leo Bator Chief Operating Officer, IBA

Mr Christian Barzea Tourism Portfolio Manager, IBA

Ms Louise Biddle Executive Officer, IBA

Ms Kirsty Gowens General Counsel, IBA

Ms Effie Poulos Program Coordinator, IBA

Ms Tracie Brauver Assistant to Executive, IBA

Mr Hanz Spier Manager — Djabugay Corporations

Mr David Hudson Artistic Director — Tjapukai

Mr Will Tynan Acquisitions Associate, IBA

Mr Chris Smith Senior Investment Manager, IBA

Mr Ray McInnes Senior Portfolio Manager, IBA

Mr Ben Tyson Area Director — InterContinental Hotels Qld & PNG
Ms Christine Dragisic Senior Manager Governance & Retail Portfolio, IBA
Mr David Vigar Investments Manager, IBA

Mr Stephen Barry Senior Manager Tourism and Hospitality, IBA

Mr Paul Coker Executive Officer, IBA

Mr Ronae Camaggi Acting IT Services Manager, [BA

Ms Diane Rimington Deputy Chief Executive Oificer (Commercial), IBA
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Tjapukai Aboriginal Cultural Cenire
Tjapukai Pty Ltd

Indigenous Land Corporation

Publi¢ Policy Solutions Pty Ltd

Commercial Freedom Australia Pty Ltd
National Indigenous Pastoral Enterprises Pty Ltd
NAISDA Pty Lid

Museun of Applied Arts and Sciences

Cape Don Pty Ltd

Wildman Wilderness Pty Ltd

Appendix A

Company of Tjapukai, directed by Mr Barry and Mr
Barcza

Land acquisition assistance, Chair of the Board is Dr
Casey

Company directed by Mr Fry

Company directed by Mr Fry

Company directed by Dr Casey

Indigenous dance company, directed by Dr Casey
Museum, directed by Dr Casey

Company directed by Mr Smith and Mr Barry

Company directed by Mr Smith and Mr Barry
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List of keywords used in the email review of Mr
Fry

Emails were extracted from Mr Fry’s email account from 17 October 2010 through to 28 March 2012,
The list of keywords that were used in the review of Mr Fry’s email account are identified below:

Movie World 69
Movieworld 341°
Gold Coast 4
Team building 69
Team activity 43
Redevelopment and $14 million 0
Whistleblower 40
Senate Estimates Committee 68
Tjapukai and Dawn 412
Relatives and Dawn 0
Declaration of interest 25
Conflict of interest and Tjapukai 29
Material personal interest 96
christopher.smith(@iba.gov.au and authorised 0
christopher.smith(@iba.gov.au and approved 117
christopher.smith(@iba.gov.au and approval 120
christopher.smith(@iba.gov.au and conference 29
christopher.smith{@iba. gov.au and seminar 5
christopher.smith({@iba.gov.au and Gold Coast 12
christopher.smith@iba.gov.au and Effie Poulos 248
Effie Poulos 43
Chris and request 73
Total 2,033

8 The first email containing ‘Movieworld’ was sent by Mr Fry on 19 February 2012
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Appendix C

List of people interviewed

The following people were interviewed Lo assist in our investigation:

e  Mr Tynan

s Mr Mclnnes
¢ Mr Smith

s Ms Poulus

¢ Mr Barry

s  Mr Thomas
* MrFry

o Dr Casey.

35



Appendix D

Appendix D

Email notifying the investments team that the
focation had been changed to Cairns
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From: SMITH,Christopher
Sent: Thursday, 25 August 2011 4:28 PM
To: VIGAR,David; KINGDON,Diane; DRAGISIC,Christine; BARRY,Stephen;

BARCZA,Christian; MORETON,Koorinya; KING,Robert; CLARKE,Kyralee;
COKER,Paul; APOSTOLAKIS,Chris; MCINNES,Ray; VARLET,Jason;
WOLVAARDT,Cronje; TWEEDY,Hamish; POULOS, Effie; TYNAN, Will

Cc: FRY,Chris
Subject: Investments Planning and Strategy
Dear Team,

Further to earlier correspondence, please note the Investments Planning and Strategy is proceeding on 31
October to 3 November in Cairns. Unfortunately due to excessive flight costs into Alice Springs the location
has been changed to Cairns. As with last year we will be booking flights early next week in an attempt to
capitalise on affordable flights.

If you are unable to attend could you please advise myself as a matter of urgency. As the flights will not be
flexible, could you please advise myseif of any special requirements.

The itinerary and venue will be forwarded within the next few weeks.

Kind Regards,

Chris Smith | Assistant General Manager | IBA Investments
indigenous Business Ausiralia

PO Box 38, WODEN ACT 2606

&7 chris.smith@iba.gov.au

0z 6121 2657

02 6246 6274

#0427 0113643

file://G\IBA\Email\Investments Planning and Strategy.htm 13/04/2012
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Email Mr Fry sent t¢ Mr Smith stating to be
mindful of costs in regard to the Gold Coast
conference
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From: FRY,Chris

Sent: Thursday, 25 August 2011 5:03 PM
To: SMITH,Christopher

Subject: Re: Investments Planning and Strategy
Chris,

Be mindful of costs since | am going to benchmark across all programs on an annual basis. Thanks for
reviewing flights to Ularu.

t have been out of mobile range for 30 hours, so happy to discuss tomorrow

From: SMITH,Chtistopher

Sent: Thursday, August 25, 2011 04:28 PM

To: VIGAR,David; KINGDON,Diane; DRAGISIC, Christine; BARRY,Stephen; BARCZA, Christian;
MORETON,Koorinya; KING,Robert; CLARKE, Kyralee; COKER,Paul; APOSTOLAKIS,Chris; MCINNES,Ray;
VARLET,Jason; WOLVAARDT,Cronje; TWEEDY,Hamish; POULOS, Effie; TYNAN, Will

Cc: FRY,Chris

Subject: Investments Planning and Strategy

Dear Team,

Further to earlier correspondence, please note the Investments Planning and Strategy is proceeding on 31
October to 3 November in Cairns. Unfortunately due to excessive fiight costs into Alice Springs the location
has been changed to Cairns. As with last year we will be booking flights early next week in an attempt to
capitalise on affordable flights.

If you are unable to attend could you please advise myself as a matter of urgency. As the flights will not be
flexible, could you please advise myself of any special requirements.

The itinerary and venue will be forwarded within the next few weeks.

Kind Regards,

Chris Smith | Assistant General Manager | IBA lnvestments
Indigenous Business Ausfraiia

PO Box 38, WODEN ACT 2606

k=3 chris.smith@iba.gov.au

w02 6121 2657

02 6248 6274

% 0427 013 643

file://G\IBA\Email\Re Investments Planning and Strategy.htm 13/04/2012
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Email Mr Fry sent detailing the thoughts of Dr
Casey following the Senate Estimates
Committee
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From: FRY,Chris

Sent: Sunday, 19 February 2012 3:56 PM

To: BATOR,Leo; SMITH,Christopher; BIDDLE, Louise

Cc: WOODS, Kaely

Subject: Senate Estimates discussion - confidential [IN-CONFIDENCE:BOARD]
Categories: IN-CONFIDENCE:BOARD

Chris,

Following my discussion with Dawn to update her happenings at Senate Estimates, her thoughts were;
s  Someone is leaking

Looks politically motivated, rather than personally motivated to get back at IBA

Not too worried by Tjapukai details, since a strong due diligence process was followed and very
good external consultants accessed

Is worried by Gold Coast conference since not a good look, and Movie World a worse look

She wants a briefing on dates for Tjapukai and what Board decisions made (Louise will complete)
She wants briefing on Gold Coast conference and Movie World event (relative costings, activities,
how many staff, which speakers, topics etc} (Chris to complete)

She wants a communications strategy developed and all requests for media to be advised to her
before comment made (Leo to attend, and involve Kaely and Dan as required)

It is time not to over-react with our messaging with staff, but be prepared in case there is a
concerted media focus on us

Louise & Leo,
Please also note action. Let us talk after Executive meeting

Please keep details of my discussion with Dawn confidential between us at this stage.

Thanks again

Chris Fry | Chief Executive Officer | Indigenous Business Australia

W+ 8126121 2600 ] M 0488 014 827 | F + 61 2 6246 6668 | PO Box 38, Woden ACT 2606

www.iba.gov.au | Freecall™1800 107 107 {Calls to 1800 numbers from your home phone are free but from public and
mobile phones may be timed and charged at a higher rate

file://GAIBA\Email\Senate Estimates discussion - confidential IN-CONFIDENCEBO... 13/04/2012
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Email Mr Smith sent to Mr Fry containing an
Investments Meeting Brief detailing the events
of the Gold Coast conference
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From:; SMITH,Christopher

Sent: Tuesday, 21 February 2012 4:07 PM

To: FRY,Chris

Cc: BATOR,Leo; VISWANATHAN,Rajiv

Subject: Investments Planning Brief [UNCLASSIFIED]

Attachments: Investments Planning Nov 11 Brief_Investments 2012.docx
Dear Chris,

As requested, please refer attached Brief pertaining to the Investments Planning and Strategy session held at
the Gold Coast.

Should further information or clarification be required, please do not hesitate to contact me.

Regards,

Chris Smith | Senior Manager | IBA Investments
indigenous Business Australia

PO Box 38, WODEN ACT 2806

B4 ghris.smith@iba.gov.au

% (0281212657

02 8246 6274

0427 013 843

file://G:\IBA\Email\Investments Planning Brief UNCLASSIFIED.htm 13/04/2012



Australian Government
Indigenous Business Australia

Senate Estimate Question

Branch: Investments

Author/Title: Chris Smith, Senior Manager - Investments
Contact Details: | 02 6121 2657 or 0427 013 643

Date: 21 February 2012

IBA Investments Strategy and Planning, November 2011, Gold Coast Qld

The IBA Investments branch conducted its annual Strategy and Planning session at
the Crowne Plaza Gold Coast from Monday 31 October 2011 to 3 November 2011.
The Gold Coast was the fifth time in the past five years that the Branch has
conducted such a session. The previous two were held at the Holiday Inn Townsville
with the two before being conducted at Bowral NSW. The sessions provide an
opportunity to bring together the five interstate based staff together with the Canberra
based staff to discuss learnings and process improvement. The event occurs
annually with 2011 presenting an opportunity for many new staff to meet face to face
with their interstate based colleagues. A total of 16 Investments staff participated in

the event.

Presentations
External Speakers who attended the event were;
1. James Luddington, BDA Marketing — Economic overview and presentation on
market performance;
2. James Rochin, BDA Marketing — Economic overview and presentation on
market performance;
3. Chris Fry, IBA CEO — Executive expectations, behaviours and performance
framework;
4. Paul Crawford, Mallesons Stephen Jaques — Legal, Governance, Deal

Structuring and Unit and Share issuing;

Level 5 Bonner House West, 5 Neptune Street, Woden ACT 2606
Postal address: PO Box 38, Woden ACT 2606

Document Exchange: DX 24002 Woden ACT &
Skt . ™ Ph: {02) 6121 2700 or FreeCALL™ 1800 107 107* ”
youR {7176 GREATER OPPORTUNITIES Fx: {02) 6121 2730 | www.iba.gov.au | ABN 25 192 832833 #

*Calls o 1800 numbers from your home phone are free. Calls ﬁ“bm@pubﬁc
and mobile phones may be timed and charged at a higher rate. s =

ER
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5. Chris Pitson, Mallesons Stephen Jaques — Legal, Governance, Deal
Structuring and unit and share issuing;

6. Kirsty Gowans, IBA Legal — Workplace Health and Safety, record keeping and
Native Title;

7. Grant Hunt, Anthology & Chairman Tourism Tasmania — Tourism opportunities
and management structure; and

8. Ben Tyson, Director Finance and Business Support IHG — Cost saving

initiatives and enhanced management reporting.

BDA and Mallesons representatives did not charge IBA for flights or time spent at the
sessions. The Mallesons representative stayed one night which provided the team
with an opportunity to discuss deal progress and seek additional clarification on a
number of pending matters. Ben and Grant also provided their services on a pro

bono basis.

Venue Selection
The venue was selected following a rigorous review of multiple locations. Other
venues considered were;

1. Alice Springs (IBA Investment, Alice Springs Resort);

2. Caimns (IBA Investment, Tjapukai);

3. Darwin (IBA Investments, Grand Medina Vive Hotel); and

4. Gold Coast.
Alice Springs, Cairns and Darwin, presenting opportunities for direct Indigenous
engagement in the team building activity, required two connecting flights to reach the
destination with airfares exceeding and average price of over $800 per person.
Quoted Accommodation charges started from $135.00 per person per night on a

room only basis.

Costing Analysis

The Gold Coast offered direct flights from Canberra to Gold Coast with Virgin
Australia at an average cost of $421 per person. The Crowne Plaza rate negotiated
was $125 per perscon per night for bed and breakfast. IBA Staff did not receive travel

allowance for those meals provided.



The Total cost for the three days including airfares, transfers, accommodation,
conference room costs, catering and incidentals was $18,735 (ex GST). The average

cost per attendee was $936 (ex GST).

Team Building Activity
In the previous year the team participated in a Master Chef cooking class conducted
in house at the Hotel. Because of IBA significant investment in Hotels this presented

the team with practical exposure to Hotel operations.

The 2011 activity involved the team spending approximately three hours at Movie
World following a robust morning session where staff were provided with an
opportunity to ask hard questions of management while a debrief on the key outtakes
from the previous days was presented. The previous sessions commenced at
8:30am with the days officially concluding at 5:30pm. The team building activity
resulted in staff from different locations, departments and various backgrounds with
an opportunity to associate in an informal environment and learn more about each
other and foster relationships. While the activity has drawn adverse aftention, the day

was very successful and achieved the goal of broadening relationships.

In addition to team building, portfolio managers and acquisition staff obtained
secondary benefits from the visit to the Tourism venue. Staff observed the product
offering, continued new development and extensive capital required to operate the
business. Marketing collateral was collected with particular attention to Park visitor
flow. The ticketing process and multiple distribution channels were observed and
discussed in the context of the Tjapukai operation and redevelopment. The internal
Park displays and sighage were noted. The IBA team could draw parallels from the
visit as the majority of the IBA Investments are public facing tourism assets.
Acquisitions and Portfolio managers, in particular observed evidence of stringent
complex procedures being implements and noted the processes of work place health

and safety being implemented.

Other key operational areas reviewed included;
+ Food and Beverage Operations

¢ Ticketing



¢ Crowd Control
o Security
s First Aid

The team rated the 2011 event as the best, most productive and informative session
when compared with previous years. The guest presenters contributed to the

success of the event.

2012 Investments Planning and Strategy
The 2012 selection with apply due analysis of value for money, ease of access,
locality to IBA owned Investments will be key considerations coupled with political

interest.
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that she had no material personal interests
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From: Casey, Dawn
Sent: Thursday, 11 August 2011 6:27 PM
To: COKER,Paul; gra@kepakurl.com.au; itrust@wunan.org.au;

jason@eades.com.au; jenny.boddington@qbelmi.com; judymhardy@gmail.com;
leah.armstrong@exemail.com.au; peter.thomas@tfginternational.com;
val.cooms@aiatsis.gov.au

Cc: FRY,Chris; WOODS, Kaely; BRAUER, Tracie

Subject: RE: Agenda for 13 September |BA Board Meeting BM72 and Material Personal
Interest

Hi Paul

| have no material interest.

Dawn

This email and attachments are for the use of the intended recipient(s) only and may contain confidential or legally privileged information or
material that is copyright of Powerhouse Museum or a third party. If you have received this email in error, please notify the sender immediately and
then delete it. If you are not the intended recipient, you must not use, disclose or distribute this e-mail without the auther's prior permission. Any
views expressed in this message and attachments are those of the individual sender and the Powerhouse Museum accepts no lability for the
content of this message.

From: COKER,Paul [mailto:Paul. COKER@iba.qov.aul
Sent: Thursday, 4 August 2011 4:18 PM

To: Casey, Dawn; gra@kepakuri.com.ay; itrust@wunan.org.au; Jason@eades.com.au;
ienny.boddington@gbelmi.com; judymhardy@amail.com; leah.armstrong@exemail.com.au;
Peter. Thomas@tfginternational.com; Val.Cooms@atatsis.qov.au

Cc: FRY,Chris; WOQDS,Kaely; BRAUER, Tracie

Subject: Agenda for 13 September 1BA Board Meeting BM72 and Material Personal Interest

Dear IBA Directors

I have attached the agenda for the 13 September IBA Board meeting. Could you please flag any material
personal interests that you may have by return email.

Many thanks,
Paul

Paul Coker

Executive Officer

Indigenous Business Australia

Level 5 Bonner House West

PO Box 38

WODEN ACT 2606

Ph: (02) 6121 2606

Fax: (02) 6246 6219

Email: paul.coker@iba.gov.au

This message is intended for the addressee and may contain confidential or legally privileged
information. If you are not the intended recipient, any use, disclosure or copying of this email is

unauthorised. Please delete it and notify the sender.

file://GNIBA\Email\RE Agenda for 13 September IBA Board Meeting BM72 and Mat... 13/04/2012
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RE: Tjapukai Page 1 of 2

From: Casey, Dawn

Sent: Thursday, 10 November 2011 6:27 AM
To: FRY,Chris

Subject: RE: Tjapukai

Hi Chris

T agree your visit and your meeting with the stakeholders with the partners has been a great move foreword and I was not
being critical of you yesterday but rather frustrated as will be the other Board members about the discussion around the
product and management not having improved. On this action should have been taken over 12 months ago.

bye for now

Dawn

From: FRY,Chris [mailto:Chris. Frv@iba.gov.au]
Sent: Wed 11/9/2011 8:59 PM

To: Casey, Dawn
Subject: Re: Tjapukai

Dawn,
I believe that the benefit is that the Indigenous partners and other stakeholders still have belief in the product and will
support our moves for change, and acknowledge some disruption along the way.

Initially one of the Indigenous partners was pushing for retaining the call option, closing the park and returning it in a
small way back to Kuranda. This would not have been good.

From the meetings I believe we will have a clear timeline for the future.

It is right to ask that with the trends over time why then it has taken so long

----- Original Message ---—-

From: Casey, Dawn [mailto:dawnc@PHM.GOV.AU]
Sent: Wednesday, November 09, 2011 05:27 PM

To: FRY,Chris

Subject: RE; Tjapukai

Hi Chris

The Board knows the product hasn't evolved and all the other things you
state below and we have known for a couple of years hence the proposal
for redevelopment including new organisational and governance structures
which is now long overdue. The Board is going to ask why isn't is
happenning?

Dawn

This email and attachments are for the use of the intended recipient(s) only and may contain confidential or legally
privileged information or material that is copyright of Powerhouse Museum or a third party. If you have received this
email in error, please notify the sender immediately and then delete it. If you are not the intended recipient, you must not
use, disclose or distribute this e-mail without the author's prior permission. Any views expressed in this message and
attachments are those of the individual sender and the Powerhouse Museum accepts no liability for the content of this
nessage.

----- Original Message-----

From: FRY,Chris [mailto:Chris.Fry@iba. gov,au]

Sent: Wednesday, 9 November 2011 4:35 PM

To: Casey, Dawn

Subject: Tjapukai

Dawn,

file://G:\IBA\Email\RE Tjapukai.htm 13/04/2012



RE: Tjapukai

We have just completed our Tjapukai visit after meeting key staff, local
stakeholders, competitors and inspecting night and day offer.

It was invaluable having Jason along. The consistent message was that
the product offer has not evolved and is tired, infrastracture is tired
and staff management is poor.

I also met with both Indigenous partners separately. Meetings went well,
with both agreeing that they want Tjapukai to remain open, it needs
significant upgrade and they agree to ceasing call option.

We are preparing a report for next Board meeting

This message is intended for the addressee and may contain confidential
or legally privileged information. If you are not the intended

recipient, any use, disclosure or copying of this email is unauthorised.
Please delete it and notify the sender.

Page 2 of 2

This message is intended for the addressee and may contain confidential or legally privileged information. If you are not
the intended recipient, any use, disclosure or copying of this email is unauthorised. Please delete it and notify the sender.

file://GNIBA\Email\RE Tjapukai.htm

13/04/2012
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Attendance List

Staff

Chris Fry (Arrived Late Day 1, attended all Day 2)
Chris Smith

Kirsty Gowans
Effie Poulous

Ray Mclnnes
Christian Barcza
Stephen Barry
Chris Apostolakis
Jason Varlet

Paul Coker
Koorinya Moreton
Kyralee Clarke
David Vigar

Will Tynan

Bob King

Hamish Tweedy
Cronje Woolvaardt

Liam Allen

Paul Crawford Malleson’s Stephens Jagques

Chris Pitson Malleson’s Stephens Jaques
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IBA Investments 31 October— 3 November 2011 Planning Agenda

Time Day 1 — Monday 31 October
Cronje.in Gold Coast Sunday 30 October
| 0925 Canberra staff arrive in Gold Coast
| 0930 Sydney. & Brisbane staff arrive in .Gold Coast
1000 - 1015 Check In & Familiarisation
| 1015 - 1030 Morning Tea in Pre FUnction‘A.rea
1030 - 1045 Welcome & Introduction ~ Chris Smith
1045 -1100 {CEO Ovenview - now 0 Dexy 2
1100 - 1300 BDA Economic Market Present;tion
1300 - 1400 Buffet Lunch in Relish Restaurant
1400 ~ 1530 Acquiisitions Strategy and Overview — David Vigar
' Regional Acquisition Update;
~  Hamish Tweedy - NSW, VIC & Tas
- Cronje Wolvaardt —- WA & SA
- WillTynan - QLD
- David Vigar — QLD, NT & Other
1530 ~ 1545 - Afternoon Tea in Pre Function Area
15451700 Acquisition and Divestrent process — David Vigar
1700 Finish
1700—1800 Free Time
| 1800 Depart at 1800 for Dinner at Dracula’s Cabaret




Day 2 — Tuesday 1 November (Melbourne Cup Day)

Time
0630 — 0830 Buffet Breakfast in Relish Restaurant
0830 Arrival Tea & Coffee
0830 — 1030 Legal, Governance and Compliance
- Paul Crawford, MSJ)]
- Kirsty Gowans, IBA
- Liam Allen
1030 - 1045 Morning Tea in Pre Function Area
1045 — 1230 Legal, Governance and Compliance — Kirsty Gowans
- Workshop and training
1230~ 1315 Buiffet Lunch in Relish Restaurant
1316 -1330 Investments Section Structure — Chris Smith
1330-- 1500 Investment Portfolio Presentation
- Stephen Barry
- DiKingdon
- Paul Coker
- Christine Dragisic
- Christian Barcza
- Chris Apostolakis
- Ray Mclnnes
- ‘Chris Smith
1500 —- 1530 Afternoon Tea, Melbourne Cup Sweep and Viewing in First
Bar Tavern (outside of the hotel}
11630 -1730 Investment Portfolic Presentation continued
1730 Finish
- 1730 - 1900 Free Time
. 1900 — 2000 Pre dinnerdrinks at Relish.Bar
2000 Dinner at Four Winds Revolving Restaurant




| Time | Day 3 — Wednesday 2 November
0630 - 0830 Buffet Breakfast in Relish Restaurant
0830 - 1000 Debrief and Q&A Session — David Vigar and Chris Smith
1000 - 1600 Team Activity

1900

Dinner in Relish Restaurant




0630 - 0800

Buffet Breakfast in Relish Restaurant

| 0800 --0800 Check out and depart for airport
Note: IBA is covering accommodation costs only. Mini bar, in
house movies & any other hotel services is to be paid by each
- individual,
0905 Cronje departs Gold Coast
1000 “All other staff depart Gold Coast
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s
“eoL 77 712183 +6147455756916 Draculas Gold Coast #2627 P.002 /002

| - TaxInvoice
oo Booking No: 1286552
. Fax No: 0252466295

" Dracula'sPrylid’
ABN 86 010 724 508
1 Hooker Boulevard, Broadbeach Qld 4218. Tel: 07-55751000 Fax: 07-55753515
Web: www.draculas.comau Email: gldboxofiice@draculas.com.au

Date of Issue; 3HDI2011
Customer/Surname; SMITH
First Name: CHRIS
Other IDAABN:
4 Audress:; PO BOX 38
WODEN ALT 2606
0262456295
Date of Performance; 31102011 Price per Seat (inclusive of GSTY: $83.00
No of Seats Booked: 29 Amount Paid (inclusive of GST): $1660.00 \
Number of Seats Paid: 20 Balance Due (inclusive of GST) £0.00

Balance Due Date:
Jetails of Supply.
-on Chaney' B Reserve tickats include a 3 course meal and five show. All drinks are extra on the night.
3ela Lugosi' A Reserve tickets include a 3 course meal, five show, premium upstairs seating, a VIP gift bag, finger
2od and a glass of champagnie. Ali drinks are extra on the night

“‘erms and Conditions:

ek will be Issued on payment. Please note there are NO REFUNDS, EXCHANGES OR CHANGE OF DATE
‘né. aid. Payment may be made by Credit Card, Money Order or Cash. We do not accept persanal cheques,
\MEXor Diners. Seats thatare not paid for by the due date will be automatically released to our waiting list.

seneral Information;

Jur doors creek open at 6:00pmand you may chaose to ride the Ghost Train into the ‘Theatre of the Vampyre',
rompt arrival is essential to catch the last train at 6:30PM. Dress is smart casual - no thongs or beach aitire.
Jracula’s is a non-smoking restaurant, although designated smoking areas are provided. We are Fully Licensad {no
YO) with drinks at Lounge Bar prices. Our quality three course dinner offers a choice of 5 main meals, ihcluding a
€getarian option. We can also organise special menus for guests with allergies. Celebration Cakes can be
urchased with 48 hours notice. On-site parking is limied.

‘or more information please visit our website at www.draculas.com.au or cali our Box Office on 07 5575 1000.

Liistemel Details:
CHRIS SMITH-

PO BOX 34
WODEN ACT 2606
Australia




(ET
INVOICE TO BE PAID BY IBA =

Cost Centre /20| q O@ 9\% q
GL Code:
Recoverable to IBA: Yes/No  Pleass circlo as appropriate DAT

- 2,
Recoverable from? 20610 o~ ‘;ﬁ | FRe SIVED
gaggegrReceived: "%W / _— }Eg SEP 261
PRINT NAME: EtSe Pl E P |_ A Z INANCE
Approved for Payment' . CAMERD N M UP RAY
T A 2,1 c—SURFERS PARADISE FH‘“’NC!AL
TITLE Manager investments . Y JPE R& T1Q NS

rma Invoice APPROVED

Indigenous Business Australia
Level 1, Bonner House East

5 Neptune Street

Woden ACT 2608

Crowne Plaza Surfers Paradise

pas

11,650

ABN: 70 087 844 666

¢ /ﬁ//Z% ._

(N7
M?!"Gq Mu
fin

13 S0,

Date Amount
7
9-Sep-11 /
Being deposit for
IB'A”[nvestments Conference
Monday 31 October 2011 - Thursday 3 November 2011
TOTAL $4300.00
Deposit Paid .00
Balance Due AUD  $4300.00,  *

Trading Name:  Crowne Plaza Surfers Paradise
Account Name:  Goodearth Hotels Australia (Gold Coast) PAL
T/A Crowne Plaza Surfers Paradise

Bank Name: NAB

Branch: 12 = 14 Albert Ave BROADBEACH QLD 4218

BSB Number: 034 716
Account Number: 495893196
OQur ABN Number: 70 087 844 666

Our Address: 2807 Gold Coast Highway Surfers Paradise QLD 4217

*NOTE: All credit card payments relating to Australian hotels incur 8 merchant service fee of 1.5% in addition to

Payment due within 7 days of the date of this invoice

the fotal amount payable.

!



INVOICE TO BE PAID BY IBA

i re 7
CROWNE PTRZR' gl
surrFers papAhERde: K060

THE PLACE DRE{;E\]L__eEabIetoIBA: Yes/No

Please circle as appropriate

Recoverable from?

Qs or
&rvices Received:

Po Box 730, Surfers Pa adﬁﬁﬁbl}ﬁﬁm E:

Approved for Payment:

7 posdel
E%é /{Dou\QS
7/

Aitn; Ms Effie Poulos
Indigenous Business Australia

poner iouse PRINT NAME: /é%& Smith
Woden ACT 2606 TITLE: Manager Investments

Date of Invoice:
Invoice Number:
Date of Function:

Tussday 8th Noveraber 2011
9200
Sunday 30th October - Wednesday 2nd November 2011

CONFERENCE NAME: Indigenous Business Australia Investments Conference
DATE PIUNIT DEBIT CREDIT  BALANCE

14-8ep-11 t Deposit - Bank Transfer $4,300.00 $4,300.00

30-Oct-11 1 Accommodation package $125.00 $125.00

31-Oct11 19 Accommodation package $125.00 $2,375.00

20 Day delegaie packages $58.00 $1,160.00

1-Nov-11 18 Accommodation package $125.00 $2,250.00

22 Day delegate packages $58.00 §1,276.00

2 Less Afternoon tea from package -$8.00 -$16.00

1 Audiovisual hire as per Videoplus $440.00 $440.06

20 Dinner packages $89.50 $1,790.00

2-Nov-11 15 Accommodafion package $125.00 $1,875.00

15 MovieWorld Tickets §79.99 $1,199.85

17 Dinner packages $42.50 $722.50

1 Al Carte 3 course dinners $1,204.00 $1,204.00

57 I/

Payment required within 3 days of the date of this invoice

*All credit card payments refating to Australfan hotels incur a merchant service fee of 1.5% in addition to the tofal amount payable.

.8

AADIIE § 430000

"~ Tétal GST:. .$- 14,3091
e

Crowne Plaza Surfers Paradise Bank Details:

Hote!: Crowne Plaza Surfers Paradise
Bank: NAS 12 - 14 Albert Ave BROADBEACH QLD 4218
BSB #: 084 718
Accouni#: 495893196
Account Name: Goodearth Hotels Australia (Gold Coast ) PIL

T/A Crowne Plaza Surfers Paradise
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. 06/MAY/2009/WED 18:36 FAX Mo, 2. 002

In Confidence

The Hon. Jenny Macklin MP ,

Minister for Famities, Housing, Cotstiminity Services and Indigenous Affaits
Parliament House

CANBERRA ACT 2600

Dear Ministet

{ am writing in relation to the proposed appoiniment of a Chabrperson of Indigencus
Business Australia,

1 confirm that T am willing for my name to be put forward for consideration,

1 have veviewed the Code of Conduet principles for Commonwealth statutory office-
holders and wish to provide you with my assutance that I am not aware of any matters
which would give rise to a conflict of inferest between my responsibilities as the
Chairpetson of Indigenous Business Australia and my employment, business and
financial interests (including taxation affaits).

[ enclose my completed private interests declaration form.

Yours sincerely




06/¥AY/2008/WED 18:35 FAY Ho, b 003
APPOINTMENTS - IN - CONFIDENCE
PRIVATE INTERESTS DECLARATION
POSITION CHATRPERSON, INDIGENOUS BUSINESS AUSTRALIA

Please answer the following questions by citcling the reply that applies to your personal
circumstances, 1 yon atewer “yes” to any question, please provide details in an attachmert to
this form. Please note that answering “yes” to any question does not necessarily preclude you
from being appointed. Your response will be treated a8 confidential and will only be used for
purposes conrected with this propesed appointtent.

1. Do you have any disclosable criminal convictons, i.e. convictions as an adult that | Fes/No
form part of your oriminal history other than those protected by the Spent Conviotions
Scheme (see Part VIIC of the Crimes det 191487

2. Are you, or have you been, the respondesnt or defendant in any civil or eximinal w2c/No
cort action (including ag a company director or ather office holder)? .
3, (a) Have you over been declared bankrupt, or ptotected by the Bankruptcy Aot 1966 | Gwg/No
to the disadvantage of creditors?

(b) If you are in & partnership, has your parinst ever been declaved banlaupt? Yus/No or N/A)
4. Has any business or commercial cnterprise for which you, or if applicable your “Yews/NoO
parmer(s), have had responsibility ever gone into receivership or 4 similar scheme or
arrangemant?

5. During fhe last 10 years have yon, or if applicable your partner(s), been the subject | ¥es/No
of 2 court order in connection with monies owing to another party?
6. Have you ever been summonsed or charged goncerning non-payment of tax or ¥es/No
outstanding tax debts, investigated for fax evasjon or defanlts, or negotiated with the
Augtralian Taxationp Office over outstanding tax debts?

7. Have you evet been, the subject of a complaint to a professional body which has /N0
been substantiated, or is cwrrently under tnvestigation?

8. Have you ever been dismissed from cmployment beceuse of a discipiitie or Teeu/No
misconduct issue?
9. Do you or your immediate family have auy finapeial interest in any company or Wer/No

business, or are you ox your immediate family employed or engaged by any compeny
or business, which might have dealings with, ox an interest in the decisions of, the
office to which you may be appointed?

10. Is thete any other information which could be relevant to your switability for the | Yees/No
proposed appoiniraent?

ASSURANCE

I advice that to the hest of my knowledge my private, business and financial interests,
including taxation affairs, would not conflict with my public duties or otherwise cause
embarrassment to mygelf or to the Government during sy term of appointment.

{ also undertake to advise the responsible minister should a situation arise in the future
which might cause a conflict of interest with my responsibilities wmder this appointment.

_ Dand cpsel

Name

Signature

APPOINTMENTS - IN - CONFIDENGE
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ATTACHMENT B
BOARD-EN-CONFIDENC;E WHEN COMPLETED]

Australian Government

Indigenous Business Australia

IBA Board
Declaration of Interests Template

In accordance with Appendix 6 of the IBA Board Governance Charter, a register of interests
will be maintained by the Board Secretary and will include those interests that could present
an actual, potential or perceived conflict with the Director's duties. At the time when the draft
Board Agenda is circulated, Directors will be asked to notify of any changes to the register.

| declare that:

o the following list includes those interests' that could present an actual, potential or
perceived conflict with my duties and responsibilities as a Board Director at 1BA,

¢ | will immediately inform the IBA Chairperson and Chief Executive Officer of any
changes to my circumstance thaf could affect the contents of this declaration and to
provide an amended declaration using this pro forma.

\\M.L, o e Yo oot Wgﬁuq
{e\-& ,S' W anse E

Pazal
Gc%%

Director’s Declaration

[Signature] : [Date] VO \Q\\\’Q

1 Please list any interests that could present an actual, potential or perceived conflict with my duties and
responsibilities at {BA. These could include any private interests which could or could be seen fo influence the
decisions you are taking or the advice you are giving. The types of interests that may need to be disclosed include
real estate investments, shareholdings, frusts or nominee companies, company directorships or partnerships, other
significant sources of income, significant liabilities, gifts, private business, employment, family, voluntary, social or
personal relationships that could or could be seen to impact upon your responsibilities

Yag
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COMMERCIAL IN CONFIDENCE

Australian Government
Indigenous Business Australia
Minutes
Meeting of Thr_a iBA Board - 66th Mesting
Venue: [BA Boardroom, Level 9, 300 Elizabeth Street, Surry Hills, Sydney
Present: Chair; Dr Dawn Casey

Deputy Chair: lan Trust
Directors: Jenny Boddington, Judy Hardy, Leah Armstrong, Gail
Revnolds-Adamson, Valerie Cooms and Peter Thomas

Invitees: Chlef Executive Officer (General Manager IBA): Bruce Gemmell
Deputy Chief Executive Officer (Business Support): Kaely Woods
Deputy Chief Executive Officer (Commiercial): Dianne Rimington
Executive Officer: Paul Coker

For specific fems:

Chalr of the Audit and Risk Committee; Jenny Morison
Chief Financial Officer: Satish Kumar

Alg Assistant General Manager nvestments: Chris Smith
Acquisitions Manager: David Vigar

Alg Assistant General Manager Enterprises: Simon Barker

Apologies: Nil.
Date: Tuesday, Time: | 9:00am — 4:15pm
14 September 2010

Dr Casey opened the meeting and, with Jenny Morison needing to leave by 11:00am, started
with those agenda items under the purview of the Audit and Risk Commitiee; specifically the
Audit & Risk Commiitee Report, Chief Finance Officer's Report, Commonwealth Authorities
and Cempanies Act {1997) Compliance Report, and the Risk Management Report.

Mr Gemmell, Ms Rimington, Ms Woods and Mr Coker joinad the meeting as did Ms Morison
and Mr Kumar.

1.  Audit & Risk Committee Report (Agenda ltem No. 4)

The Audit & Risk Committee Chalr, Ms Jenny Morison, provided a verbal report on the
outcomes of the 31 August 2010 meeting of the Audit & Risk Commiltee. Key discussion
points were: _
s The Committee considered ihe following significant matters:
o 2009-2010 financial statements for IBA.
o 2009-2010 financiatl statements for the Indigenous Eccnomic Development
Trust,
o CAC Compliance Report.
o 2010-2011 Risk Management Plan.
« To smeoth workload and in terms of matters brought forward to the Board by the
Audit & Risk commiites, it was suggested that the equivalent Board meeting rext

COMMERCIAL IN CONFIDENCE



COMMERCIAL IN CONFIDENGE

year should focus on IBA’s accounts only, with other matiers programmed for earlter
meefings.

s Following on from a comment by Dr Casey that she would like to see the Audit and
Risk Committee playing a larger role, and with regard to the audits of IBA’s
subsidiaries, it was suggested that the Audit & Risk Commitiee determine which ones
the Board needed {o look at. The Board agreed fo this approach.

» In cbserving that there were very few findings made by the ANAQ in auditing 1BA's
accounts, Ms Morison noted |BA’s accounts were one of the most complex in the
Commanweaith and appfauded the CFQ for his efforts and those of his team. It was
noted that two members of the Finance team were leaving IBA and there was a need
fo have a process for training and growing staff as well as ensuring that appropriate
pay levels were in place.

At this point Ms Morison, with the permission of the Chair, chose {o turn to the CFQO’s Report,
followed by the CAC Compliance Report and then the Risk Management Report. For
continuity purposes these minutes will show the balance of the Audit and Risk Committes
Report immediately below.

s In discussing IBA's performance management system and performance bonuses, Ms
Hardy commented that that there was a need for cansistency. Mr Gemmelt
commented that the current system is useful in counselling under-parformers as well
as providing a paper trail. Dr Casey observed that there was a feeling that
performance was not being managed well across the organisation.

s IBA’s risk appetite’ was discussed. The Beard took the view that time needs to be
set aside to look at risk appetite across the whole organisation and notjust individual
program areas. It was observed that IBA's diverse portfolio of assefs helped reduce
risk. Mr Trust commented that there was a perceplion that 1BA was foo risk averse,
Dr Casey sald that with a renewed fogus on regional matters there will be an
expectation by the government that IBA will be more involved.

» [BA's 2010-2011 Internal Audit Program was discussed. Ms Morison observed that
security in |T was a big issue and that there was a need for security systems to be
robust. Ms Morison said that some organisations establish 1T commiittees to faciiitate
this. A view was expressed that auditing anti money laundeting each year was
somewhat of an overklll; it was agrsed that the need would be reviewed by
management and considered by the Audit and Risk Commitise.

The Board:

1. NOTED the Audit and Risk Commitfee Repart
2. APPROVED the Internal Audit Program for the 2010-2011 financial year.

2. Chief Financial Officer's Report (Agenda ltem No. 3)

Financigl statements for the year 2009-10 of IBA Corporation and Consolidated Entity

Mr Kumar spoke to the paper and advised the Board of the various trends and highlighis in

IBA's financial statermnents. Significant matters included:

¢ There was a net consolidated deficit of $56.5 miflion due {o a sizeable loan valuation
discount, loss on the fransfer of the IBA subsidiary, Outback Stores, to FaHCSIA, and
loss on the disposal and revaluation of investments.

» Areduction of tolal assets at 30 June 2010 of $80 million as compared to the previcus
year, impacted by the transfer of Outback Stores, significant reductions in market values
of loan portfolios frigaered by increases in interest rates, and the net deficit in the income
statement.

« [ue to changes in classification of four entities from associates to subsidiaries, the 2007-
08 and 2008-09 accounts had to be restated for comparison purposes, involving two
weeks of work, There was very [ittle material difference in the two sets of accounts.

Ms Morison said that it was the biggest deficit that she had encountered this vear in the
various agencies to which she pravides audit and risk service and that it would be advisable

COMMERCIAL IN CONFIDENCE . 2




COMMERCIAL iN CONFIDENCE

to take a direct approach in explaining the reasons for the resuit and the drop in net assets in
such documents as IBA's Annual Report. The chair asked that a set of talking points
explaining the deficlt be provided to Board members and the executive.

The Board APPRCOVED the financial statements for the year 2009-10 of 1BA Corporation and
Consolidated Entity.

Audiied financdial statement of the Indigenous Economic Development Trust

Mr Kumar presented the 2009-2010 financial statements for the Indigenous Ecanomic
Development Trust (IEDT). IEDT has assats of $1.76 million and is expected to be revenue
neutral next year.

Ms Hardy commented that if the assets of IEDT increase substantially then it may become a
significant job looking after If. She noted that the Audit and Risk Commitiee has sought a
briefing on the IEDT and this will also be provided fo the Board., Dr Casey pointed fo such
considerations as insurance and asbestos; that we need to be mindful of the risks; and that
the Board be made cognlisant of significant changes through the Audit & Risk Committes.

The Board APPROVED ths financial statements of the Indigenous Econemic Development
. Trust for the year 2009-10.

3. Commonwealth Authorities and Companies Act (1997) Compliance Report
{Agenda ltem No. §)

it was noted that the CAC Compliance report for the 2009-201C year must be provided to the
Finance and Porifolio Ministers by 15" Qctober 2010.

Ms Morison noted that there were no reported non-compliance for 2009-10 and made the
point that we ensure that we refer to previous year's compliance activities In the current
reparting period.

The Board:
1. NOTED their duties as a director as detaiied in the CAC Act.
2. CERTIFIED that the 2009-2010 CAC Compliance Report was frue and correct and
authorised the Chairperson to sign the Report on behalf of the Board.

4. Risk Management Report (Agenda [tem No. 6}

Ms Morison explained that the Risk Management Framework and Practice Strategy was the
responsibility of the Audit & Risk Committes and the Risk Management Plan the responsibility
of managemeni, Mr Gemmell made the following points in relation to the 2010-2011 Risk
Manageament Plan:
+ The Plan was not significantly different than the previous iteration.
» Risk 5, the high walling list o access an IBA home loan, was likely to be an enduring
risk due 1o capital constraints even faking info account the HOIL iransfer.

There followed a range of discusston points in relation te the HOP waiting list:

» Dr Casey sald that we should keap trying for additional funding and we should
continue to present the case, particularly in light of the large amounts of funding that
will be going fo regional Australia and the continuing problems associated with
Indigenous housing.

* Ms Boddington would like to see more detail on the basis of IBA’s split loan product
with banks. '

s Dr Casey asked for background information on IBA's discussions and dealings with
banks.

COMMERCIAL IN CONFEIDENCE ' 3



COMMERCIAL IN CONFIDENCE

In considering the 2010-2011 Risk Management Plan the Board identified two additional risks,

namaly:
1. Risk of Instabliity arising from senior vacancies and loss of senior staff, including the
CEOQ.
2. Changes In political and pollcy environment. For example, Issues such as land
tenure.

Ms Morison emphasised the importance of having regular conversations about risk.

Ms Hardy and Ms Reynolds-Adamson expressed their appreciation of Ms Morison’s help and
assistance in relation to the Audit & Risk Committee.

Dr Casey thanked Ms Morison, Ms Rimington, Mr Kumar and Mr Gemmell and, on behalf of
the Board, Mr Lolicate, IBA’s Governance Officer.

The Board:
1. NOTED the risk management report.

2. APPROVED ihe Risk Management Framework and Practice Strategy.
3. APPROVED the 2010-2011 Risk Management Plan.

Ms Morison and Mr Kumar left the meeting, as did Mr Gemmell, Ms Rimington, Ms Woods
and Mr Coker.

Starting af 10:30am and finishing at 11:15am the Board held an In-Camera sesslon. During
this session CEO Remuneration {Agenda em Ne. 17) was discussed.

The following decision was recorded in the form of a decision sheet:

The Board APPROVED the application of the Remuneration Tribunal's revisad remunerafion
reference rate of $312,670 for the IBA Chief Executive Officer position to Mr Gemmelt with
effect from 1 August 2010 as permitted by the Remuneration Tribunal.

Mr Gemmell, Ms Rimington, Ms Woods and Mr Coker rejoined the meeling.

5. eclaration of Material Personal Interests (Agenda ltem No. 1 } .

Dr Casey invited the Board to declare any material personal interests arising from the
Agenda. There were two declarations, both having been made by the Directors concerned
following the circulation of the meeting agenda and prior to the despaich of Board papers to
Directors:

Ms Cooms declared that she may have a material personal irterest in the Minjerribah
Camping, Stradbroke {sland agenda item (10{b){il)) because she comes from the area.

Mr Trust tndicated that he may have a material personal interest with the Tiwi Island Project
agenda item (16(b)(jii}} because he is a Board member of the ILC.

There was brief discussion about Dr Casey’s involvement with Tjapukal. [t transpires that any
advice Dr Casey offered the business was done so on a ‘no payment’ basis.

The Beard:

1. AGREED that Ms Cooms had a material personal interast in the Minjerribah
Camping, Stradbroke Isiand agenda item and that she should excuse herself from the
meeting during any discussion of the matier.

2. AGREED that Mr Trust did not have a materia! personal interest in the Tiwi 1sland
Project agenda item.

3. AGREED that Dr Casey did not have a material personal interest in the Tjapukai
agenda item.

COMMERCIAL IN CONFIDENCE 4
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ATTACHMENT B ’1"1':\
BOARD-IN-CONFIDENCE [WHEN COMPLETED]

Australian Government

Indigenous Business Australia

IBA Board
Declaration of Interests Template

In accordance with Appendix 6 of the IBA Board Governance Charier, a register of interests
will be maintained by the Board Secretary and will include those interests that could present
an actual, potential or perceived conflict with the Director’s duties. At the time when the draft
Board Agenda is circulated, Directors will be asked to notify of any changes to the register.

| declare that:

e the following list includes those interests' that could present an actual, potential or
perceived conflict with my duties and responsibilities as a Board Director at IBA;

s | will immediately inform the IBA Chairperson and Chief Executive Officer of any
changes to my circurnstance that could affect the contents of this declaration and fo
provide an amended declaration using this pro forma.

’r hauws beem a’PPDU&LOk o Chaiy &A/ML&CMC{MCL
75w\ \sg led tm
iw\ Corpeeshion Ty il b2 Ve {
o (*.m,\gs [

sk Seth Seger
hNecesT
A%C’G\.\ID&

A otk s c:fuw\:»L <\ R ok osa Lol dew presoSH
AN s i QD\«%Q@ZJV

Director’s Declaration

Name: RN NI (‘_,’&%t?)\‘

[Signature] %@ﬁ_ [Date] 1¢ to Wornlen, 2o\
)

! Please list any interests that could present an actual, potential or perceived conflict with my duties and
responsibilities at IBA. These could include any private interests which could or could be seen to influence the
decisions you are taking or the advice you are giving. The types of interesis that may need to be disclosed include
real estate investments, shareholdings, frusts or nomines companies, company directorships or partnerships, other
significant sources of income, significant liabllities, gifts, private business, employment, family, voluntary, social or
personal relationships that could or could be seen to impact upon your responsibilities
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" BRAUER, Tracie

Subject: Investiments Planning Agenda - CROWNE PLAZA SURFERS PARADISE
Location: 2807 GOLD COAST HIGHWAY - SURFERS PARADISE.

Start: Tue 111/20171 10:00-AM

End: Tue 1/11/2011 6:30 PM

Recutrences; {none)

Organizer: FRY,Chris

Gategories: Purple Category:

When: Monday, 31 October 2011 10:00 AM-8:30 PM (GMT+10:00) Canberra, Melbourne, Sydney.
Where; Crown Plaza Gold Coast

Note: The'GMT offset above does not reflect daylight saving time adjustments,

LT L S S S T .

ot T s S Erng T rna™ o ™ g,

1BA Investments 31 October — 3 November 2011 Planning Agenda

Time  Day i~—Monday 31 October
Cronje in Gold Coast Sunday 30 Cctober

0825 Canberra staff arrive in Gold Coast

0930 Sydney & Brishane staff arrive in Gold Coast
1000 - 1015  Check in & Familiarisation

1018~ 1030  Morming Tea in Pre Function Area
1030 - 1045  Welcome & Introduction — Chris Smith
1045-1100 CEO Ovenview (kD 72 2
1100 - 1300  BDA Economic Market Presentation
1300 - 1400  Buffet Lunch.in Relish Restaurant
1400 - 1530  Acquisitions Stralegy and Overview — David Vigar

Regional Acquisition Update;

Hamish Tweedy - NSW, VIC & Tas

Cronje Wolvaardt — WA & SA

will Tynan -QLD

+ David Vigar— QLD, NT & Other

1630 — 1545 ° Afternoan Tea in Pre Function Area

16845 — 1700  Acquisition and Divestment process ~ David Vigar
1700  Finish

1700— 1800  Free Time

1800  Depart at 1800 for Dinner at Dracula’s Cabaret

* 9 B

Time Day 2 - Tuesday 1 November (Melbourne Cup Day)
0630 -0830  Buffet Breakfast in Relish Restaurant

0830 Arrival Tea & Coffee

0830- 1036  Legal, Governance and Compliance j

(58 ol
ST

1 @Ma

¢ Paul Crawford, MSJ]
¢ Kirsty Gowans, IBA




* ‘Liam Allen

1030 - 1045  Morning Tea in Pre Function Area

1045 -~ 1230  Legal, Governance and Compliance — Kirsty Gowans
«  Workshop and training

1230 -1315  Buffet Lunch in Relish Restaurant

1315 - 1330  investments Section Structure — Chris. Smith
1330 - 1800  InvestmentPortfolic Presentation

s Stephen Barfy

Di Kingdon

Paul Coker

Christine Dragisic

Christian Barcza

Chris Apostolakis

Ray Miclnnes

s Chris Smith

1500 - 1530  Afternoon Tea, Melbourne Cup Sweep and Viewing in First Bar Tavern (outside of the hotel}
1530 -1730  Investment Poitfolio Presentation continued
1730 Finish

1730 -1900 FreeTime

1900 - 2000  Pre dinner drinks at Relish Bar

2000 Dinner at Four Winds Revolving Restaurant

Time Day 3—-Wednesday 2 November

0630 -0830  Buffet Breakfast in Relish Restaurant

0830 - 1000  Debrief and Q&A Session — David Vigar and Chris Smith
1000 - 1600 Team Activily

1900  Dinner i Relish Restaurant
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ITINERARY
CHRIS FRY

31 October to 1 November 2011
Trip No 60011038
FCM BOOKING # 4171703
VIRGIN AIRLINES
FOR CHANGES: FCM TRAVEL — CONTACT 1300 365 570
AFTER HOURS - 1300 727 720

MONDAY 33 OCTOBER 2012

FLIGHTS

12:30 VIRGIN DJ 1217~ CANBERRA TO BRISBANE
13:10

AIRTRAIN FROM BRISBAMNE AIRPORT TRAIN TO NERANG STATION

TRAIN DEPARTS EVERY % HOUR,

INVESTMENTS PLANNING AGENDA Vende - CROWNE PLAZA HOTEL, 2807 GOLD COAST HIGHWAY,
SURFERS PARADISE

FROM ARRIVAL TO DEPATURE ON

1 NOVEMBER 2011 {Program provided)

¢ 1 NOVEMBER 201
FLIGHTS
0a:60PM VIRGIN D} 532 — COOLANGATTA TO SYDNEY
06:35PM
D735PM VIRGIN DJ 670 - SYDNEY TO CANBERRA

DE:30PM




TOTAL
Total Cost of Flights AU$939.00

Booking References

MOVEMENT REQUISITION NUMBER 60011038
e-Ticket to be issued on 27-06t2011. Photo 1D required at airport checkin,

CHECK IN DETAILS - DOMESTIC FLIGHTS:

Giantag, Virgin Blue, Reglendl EdpraEs - at least 45 mintes.prier to-daparture. Jetslaradvises to chéck in at least 1 hour prier 8¢ e gate cloges 30 minutes cut. All baggage Wil be sdeurity
screaned. .

HOTEL GUARANTEES & CANGELLATIONS
Ih-order far your hotel Hooking 4o be Neld alter Spm, yatr diival bas to.be guarariged with a credit card or an FGm GSuaranisn.

Wa will 2liays 1iss The cradi card number in your FCm Travél Profife, of ydur Company's cledit card  thalisihe policy.  Hwé:do not have B creuit cdrd o gisarantss yous anival, thihotel Is within
heir rights lo cance! your reservation at Bpm,

Ityou Intend erriving at your accommodation iater fhan 8pm, please conlact your accommodation to make arrangements for fate check-in,

Shauli you "no show” for your hote! reservation, cencellaion penallies andfor charges may epply. Hotefs can charga a canceliafion penally, dependant on tha notice piven, Cenditions vary,
espetially dudng spacial ¢vent perods.

Fleasa veler to your itinarary for the canceliation peridd relativa to your hotst Bookingls)

SEATING

Sesling requests are fol guarsntedd by aidines and.rhay be changed wilhoul #dtice

FLIGHT'NO-SHOWS

A no-show for your fiight may cause all onward reservations to be cancelled; You may also ba-required 16 upgrade your ficket 1o a higher fare tyse.
SYONEY -

* Flights QF1-0F399 eperate from Terminal 1 {Sydnéy Infernaticnal teriming)

* Fhghts QF40Q-QF 1599 opereté from Terming] 3 (Qantas Domesicterdinal)

* Virgin Blue, Regional Express, Aeropetican, Horizon, Qantas QF1600 ard above; Jalstar. QFBE000 (Jetstar) operate from Terminal 2
ALL'OTHER CITIES -

*Flights QF1-QF 39% aperate fromithe Intemational Terminal.

= Af-sther Alriines and Qantas QF400 sbove opersle from Domestic terminal.

VIRGIN ALISTRALIA 7 AIR NEW ZEALAND CODE SHARE

**NZ flight seriés. 7000 - flighls operated by Virgin Ausiralia - checkin at the Virgin  counter

**DJ Right series 8000 ~flights operated by Air Néw Zéaland « checkin at thé Air - New Zealand counfer

AFTER HOURS TRAVEL ASSISTANCE

¥ dialling from Withir Australia; phone 1300°727 720, i dialing from abroad, phone +61.7 3011 7823

PLEASE NOTE? Between 6pm-Bam AEST week days and on weekends, our fter Hours Servica Is for urgent bookingsfamendments. 1t is oparalad by olroven stalf for personatised service. We
access same systems and profiles: Voicemail is.actipned in order of recaipt.

Rules of Carriage
DJ-Y_BX32:
Virgin Austratia Fiex Fare Gold Velocity
Bagaane; 32 KG check In baggage aliowance-on domestic fights,
Changes: Up untll 24 hows after scheduled departure ime,
Qng_n_gg&g_s_: No Change fee spplies. Only Tase difference
Canceliation: Canceliation permitted up to-24hes afer schaduled departure:
Cancéfation Fee: Damestic canceliation fees range from $80 - $100
Canceliztion: Balance wil Be held in credit far future-use - within 12 menths of dﬂginalﬁodking
Refunds: $100 fee per guest per refund of credit shefl avaiisble

sck in: Priority check-in available
Entertainment: includas Live2Ar indlight sntertainment, where fited,
Foodk: Inchuded Foed and Drink

Mutiple fare rilos could oxist for this selected fara,Please contact your Travel Managesfor the complele rules and ceaditions of yeur alrfare,




Bobking #: 4171703
Gost Centre: 9203
Date: 26-Oct-2011
Consultant: KYLIE MARTIN ‘
Email: kylie.martin@femtravel.com.ay
Ordered By: BRAUER /TRACIEMS
GDS Reference: -SMFMB8
Passenger ,
FRY f CHRIS MR- B - 2107438535
Your Itinerary
Man 31 Qot 2011 at 1230 - L
- Virgin Australia {DJ1217)
Departing: CANBERRA at 1230
Arriving: BRISBANE (Tehvinal D) at 1310
Clgss of Service: J-Business Class  [J-DJPREM] *
Flight Status: Gonfirmed JAK]
Alrline Referance: TCYRYN
Ticket Number (FRY/CHRIS 444  TCYRYN
MR}
Alrcraft; EMBRAER EM
Number of Seals: 1
Numnber of Stops: o
Flight Tima:. 1 hrs 40 mins

Tue 01 Nov 2011 at 1800

Departing:
Arriving:

Class of Senvice;
Flight Status:
Airiine Reference:

Ticket Number (FRY / CHRIS
MR):
Number of Seats;

Number of Stops:
Flight Time:

Tus 01 Nov 2011 at 1935

Departing:

Arriving:

Elass of Service:

Flight Status:

Airline Referénce;

Ticket Number (FRY { CHRIS
MR

Number of Seals:

Nuinber of Stops:

Flight Time:

Virgin Australia {DJ532)

GOLD COAST - COOLANGATTA at 1600

SYDNEY at 1825

Flewi Gold Vélocity [Y_BX32]*
Confirmed [AK]

Ug485¢

444 UB48SC

1
o
1 hrs 25 mins

Vitgin Australia {DJ678)
SYDNEY at 1935

CANBERRA at 2030

Flaxi Gold Veloclty [Y_BX32]~
Confirmed [AK}

Lg485c

444 18483C

%

4]

55 mins

* Pleasa-check the booking ferins and canditions for the rules of cardage for each flight on your ftingzary.

Your Flight Charges

LEVEL 3 316 ADELAIDE $TREET
BRISEANE QLD 4000




IBA Investments 31 October — 3 November 2011 Planning Agenda

0925 Canberra staff arrive in Gold Coast

0930 Sydney & Brisbane staff arrive in Gold Coast
1000 ~ 1015 Chegk In & Familiarisation

1015 ~ 1030 Morning Tea in Pre Function Area

1030 - 1045 Welcome & Intreduction ~ Chris Smith

1045 - 1100 CEO Overview « ripns 0 “Da "y

1100 - 1300 BDA Economic Markst Presenggticn

1300 - 1400 Buffet Lunch in Relish Restaurant

1400 ~ 1530 Acquisitions Strategy and Overview — David Vigar

Regional Acquisition Update;
- Hamish Tweedy - NSW, VIC & Tas
- Cronje Wolvaardt — WA & SA
- Will Tynan - QLD
- David Vigar — QLD, NT & Other

1530 — 1545 Afternoon Tea in Pre Function Area

1545 — 1700 Acquisition and Divestment process — David Vigar
1700 Finish

1700 - 1800 Free Time.

1800 Depart at 1800 for Dinner at Dracula’s Cabaret




0630 - 0830 Buffet Breakfast in Relish Restaurant
0830 Arrival Téa & Coffee.
0830 - 1030 Legal, Governance and Compliance
- Paul Crawford, MSJ]
- Kirsty Gowans, IBA
- Liam Allen
1030 ~ 1645 Morning Tea in Pre Function Area
1045 — 1230 Legal, Governance and Cornpliance — Kirsty Gowans
- Workshop and training
1230 - 13156 Buffet Lunch in Relish Restaurant
1315 - 1330 Investments Section Structure — Chris Smith
1330 - 1500 Investment Portfolio Presentation
- Stephen Barry
- DiKingdon
-  Paul Coker
- Christine Dragisic
- Christian Barcza
- Chris Apostolakis
- Ray Mcinnes
- Chris Smith
1500 - 1530 Afternoon Tea, Melbourne Cup Sweep and Viewing in First
Bar Tavern (outside of the hotel)
1530 - 1730 Investment Portfolio Presentation continued
1730 Finish
1730 -1200 Free Time
1900 ~ 2000 Pre dinner drinks at Relish Bar
Dinner at Four Winds Revolving Restaurant

2000




Buffet Breakfast in Relish Restaurant

0630 - 0830
0830 - 1000 Debrief and Q&A Session — David Vigar and Chris Smith
1000 - 1600 Team Activity

1800

Dinnier in Relish Restaurant




i iRy e S

0630 - 0800 Buffet Breakfast in Relish Restaurant

0800 - 0200 Check out and depait for airport
Note: IBA is covering accommodation costs only. Mini bar, in
house movies & any other hotel services is to be paid by each
individual.

0805 Cronje departs Gold Coast

1000 All other staff depart Gold Coast
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earch Nearby Swrters £
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2807 GOLD COAST HIGHWAY — SURFERS PARADISE, 4217 — AUSTRALA
Holel Front Desk: $1-7-55529900 Plolel Fanr61-7-55621518
EmallHifel  OsiDinctions  AddloFavbrfes  Print¥aci Sheet
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